Immigration, sex/gender, and patterns of access to primary care in Canada

by Joseph M Ssendikaddiwa

B.A. (Health Sciences), Simon Fraser University, 2018

Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science

> in the Master of Science Program Faculty of Health Sciences

© Joseph M Ssendikaddiwa 2021 SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY Spring 2021

Copyright in this work rests with the author. Please ensure that any reproduction or re-use is done in accordance with the relevant national copyright legislation.

Declaration of Committee

Name:	Joseph M Ssendikaddiwa
Degree:	Master of Science
Title:	Immigration, sex/gender, and patterns of access to primary care in Canada
Committee:	Chair: William Hsiao Associate Professor, Health Sciences
	Ruth Lavergne Supervisor Assistant Professor, Health Sciences
	Nicole Berry Committee Member Associate Professor, Health Sciences
	Shira Goldenberg Committee Member Assistant Professor, Health Sciences
	Lindsay Hedden Examiner Assistant Professor, Health Sciences

Abstract

Background: Primary care provides entry to the Canadian health care system, subsequent coordination, and integration of all levels of care. People who have immigrated to Canada may experience difficulties accessing primary care, but gaps in conceptualization and operationalization of "access" has resulted in conflicting results and uncertain policy implications. How the interaction of immigration and sex/gender impacts patterns of access to primary care has also been understudied.

Objectives: The study examines how patterns of access to primary care differ between immigration groups and how sex/gender and immigration interact to shape patterns of access.

Methods: I used 2015-2018 Canadian Community Health Survey Data to describe patterns of access to primary care among adult residents of Canada (age 18+), categorizing variables related to primary care access by stages of the Levesque framework including perception and desire for care, healthcare seeking, reaching and utilization. I compared patterns of access between recent immigrants (people in Canada for less than 10 years, including both temporary migrants and permanent immigrants), long-term immigrants (in Canada 10+ years), and non-immigrants (people who were born in Canada). I used logistic regression models to calculate adjusted and unadjusted odds estimates for each variable related to primary care, and to explore interaction effects of sex/gender and immigration.

Results: Patterns of access among recent immigrants significantly differed from long-term and non-immigrants with respect to perception and desire for care, seeking and utilization. Similar patterns were observed between long-term and non-immigrants except at the utilization stage. Interaction effects of gender and immigration were more pronounced in earlier stages of health care seeking but not reaching nor utilization.

Conclusion: The Levesque framework of health services use was important in highlighting differences among immigration groups along the whole process of obtaining care. Interventions focused on improving approachability and acceptability of services and addressing gendered barriers, especially among recent male immigrants, are important to improve access to primary care.

Keywords: Immigration; Primary care; Access; Gender; Sex

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to my mother, for her love, prayers, care, and support. Thank you for choosing me, thank you for silently cheering me on. I would also like to honor Dr. Hermann Gmeiner and SOS Children's Villages International for their vision that made it possible for me to have an education and a life dared to dream. I am grateful to God for life and grace on this journey and forever indebted to friends, family and cheerleaders that have been with me through it all, I am grateful.

Finally, I would like to dedicate this body of work to the amazing health care providers across the country for their bravery during such a time when everyone is looking to them for life saving care. Thank you for your service and I hope we will once look back to this time and forever remember you as our heroes.

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to acknowledge the boundless support, mentorship, and fervent encouragement from my Senior Supervisor Dr. Ruth Lavergne. Your unswerving belief in my capabilities and potential, lifted me up whenever I thought the journey was too long to accomplish. The passion and enthusiasm you have for what you do, will always be a reminder to bring my true self to my work and in service to others.

I want to also acknowledge the abundant support and reflective feedback from Dr. Nicole Berry and Dr. Shira Goldenberg. Your thoughtful feedback and guidance provided for critical reflection and clarity in my work. Thank you for time and support.

To the amazing staff and faculty at Simon Fraser University, thank you for guiding, teaching, and providing all the support I needed to complete this milestone.

To all the numerous friends, family and well-wishers, my life group and church family, that offered kindness, love, and company on this journey I am truly grateful.

Table of Contents

Decla	ration of Committee	ii
Abstra	act	iii
Dedic	ation	iv
Ackno	owledgements	v
Table	of Contents	vi
List of	f Tables	. viii
List of	f Figures	ix
List of	f Acronyms	X
Chap	ter 1. Introduction	1
Chap	ter 2. Background and literature review	4
2.1.	Primary care and immigrant health	4
2.2.	Defining migration and immigration	4
2.3.	Immigration in Canada	5
2.4.	Immigration, health, and health care access in Canada	6
2.5.	Sex, gender, and access to primary care	9
2.6.	Sex, gender, migration, and access to care	. 10
2.7.	Theoretical frameworks to guide understanding of health care access	. 10
2.8.	Application of the Levesque conceptual framework in the context of immigration	۱,
	sex, and gender	. 13
	Health care needs	13
	Perception of need and desire for care	15
	Health care seeking	16
	Health care reaching	18
	Health care utilization	19
	Health care consequences	20
2.9.	Summary of research gaps	. 20
Chap	ter 3. Exploring patterns of access to primary care among immigrants a	ind
•	non-immigrants	. 22
3.1.	Introduction	. 22
	Background	22
3.2.	Methods	. 24
	Data source	24
	Sample selection	25
	Response variables	25
	Explanatory variables	28
	Statistical analysis	30
3.3.	Results	. 30
	Characteristics of immigration groups	30
	Patterns of Health Service Use by Levesque Stage	35

3.4.	Discussion and interpretation of results	44
3.5.	Limitations of study	46
3.6.	Conclusion	47
Chap	ter 4. Sex/gender, immigration, and patterns of access to primary care in Canada	า 48
4.1.	Introduction	48
	Background	. 48
4.2.	Methods	50
	Data source	. 50
	Sample selection	. 50
	Explanatory variables	. 50
	Response variables	. 52
	Statistical analysis	. 53
4.3.	Results	53
	Characteristics of immigration groups by sex/gender	. 53
	Patterns of access to primary care by immigration and sex/gender group	. 58
4.4.	Discussion and interpretation of results	65
4.5.	Limitations of study	67
4.6.	Conclusion	67
Chap	ter 5. Conclusion	68
Refe	rences	73
Арре	ndix A	83
Арре	endix B	94

List of Tables

Table 3.1.	Descriptive characteristics (unweighted counts and weighted percentages) of analytic sample by immigation group, CCHS 2015-2018
Table 3.2.	Primary care access patterns of recent-immigrants, long-term immigrants and non-immigrants classified by Levesque stages (unweighted counted and weighted percentage), CCHS 2015-2018
Table 3.3.	Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios (weighted) for chosen primary care outcomes of recent (0-9 year in Canada) and long-term immigrants (10+ years in Canada) compared to non-immigrants (born in Canada), CCHS 2015-2018
Table 4.1.	Descriptive characteristics (unweighted counts and weighted percentages) of respondents stratified by immigration group and sex/gender, CCHS 2015-2018
Table 4.2.	Unweighted counts, weighted percentages and p-values for primary care outcomes stratified by immigrantion group and sex/gender, CCHS 2015-2018
Table 4.3.	Adjusted and unadjusted odds ratios for chosen primary care outcomes by immigration group and sex, p-values for tests of interaction effects, CCHS 2015-2018

List of Figures

Figure 2.1.	The Andersen Model of Health Care Utilization (Andersen, 1995)
Figure 2.2.	A conceptual framework of access to health care (Levesque et al. 2013)
Figure 3.1.	Log-scale graph showing adjusted odds estimates and 95% CI of recent immigrants compared to non-im migrants
Figure 3.2.	Log-scale graph showing adjusted odds estimates and 95% CI of long-term immigrants compared to non- im migrants
Figure 4.1.	Log-scale graph showing adjusted odds estimates and 95% CI of sex/gender and immigrant groups compared to female non-immigrants 64

List of Acronyms

/ey.
/6

- PUMF Public Use Micro-Data Files
- SES Socioeconomic Status
- SFU Simon Fraser University

Chapter 1.

Introduction

Understanding access to primary care across populations is important to reduce disparities in health and access to other health services. Primary care is intended to be a first point of patient contact within the health care system in Canada. Besides providing an entry point to the health care system, primary care providers deliver core medical and preventive services, and help coordinate and integrate patient care (1). Primary care services may also include prevention and treatment of common diseases and injuries, basic emergency services, primary mental health care, healthy child development, and primary maternity care (2). These services may involve nurses and nurse practitioners, family physicians, social workers, and other allied health care providers.

Access to primary care services may be particularly important for people who have immigrated to Canada be it either temporarily or permanently, as primary care services can ideally meet immediate needs and assist with navigation when other health care services are needed. There is, however, conflicting evidence on patterns of access to primary care among immigrant groups, with some studies observing similar patterns of access to care among immigration groups (3–5), while others document barriers and gaps in access (6–10). Gender and sex also shape how people use and access health care services and may interact with immigration to influence access to primary care services (6,11). However, given the restrictions of quantitative data used which only offers the binary categories of 'men' and 'women' on the survey, literature reviews and analysis in the study is limited to articles on 'men' and 'women' and not inclusive of other genders

This study adds further evidence by using data from the Canadian Community Health Survey to compare patterns of access to primary care services among immigrant and non-immigrant groups. I use the Lévesque framework to conceptualize access, which identifies stages of perception of need and desire for care, seeking, reaching, and utilization as part of the process of obtaining care (12). I explore how stages of the process of obtaining care differ between recent immigrants, long-term immigrants, and nonimmigrants, and whether gender interacts with immigration to shape patterns observed. Ultimately, the study can inform policy interventions aimed at strengthening access and supporting the diverse health care needs of immigrants within the Canadian health care system. Specific research questions are as follow:

- 1. How do patterns of primary care access compare among recent immigrants, long-term immigrants, and non-immigrant groups?
- Does sex/gender interact with immigration groups to shape patterns of access to primary care?

Here recent immigrants include permanent and temporary residents who have or moved to Canada within the last ten years, while long-term immigrants are those who have lived in Canada for ten or more years.

To answer these questions, I use data collected through the Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS). The survey is an annual, cross-sectional national survey conducted by Statistics Canada. The survey is instrumental in addressing these questions as it is provides current, detailed and uniform information about health in every province and territory, and includes a range of questions related to primary care access, including several newly-added since 2015 (13). It is a representative sample of 98% of the Canadian population age 12 years and older living in private dwellings, excluding those residing on reserves and other Aboriginal settlements, full-time members of the Canadian Forces, institutionalized populations, and those residing in remote regions. The sampling frame is based on place of residence and not immigration status, and so it includes both temporary and permanent immigrants in Canada. I accessed data using Statistics Canada Public Use Micro-Data Files and used 2015-2018 data cycles pooled into one dataset.

In Chapter 2, I provide an overview of literature describing immigration and access to primary care. I explore research that documents patterns of access to primary care by immigration status, length of time in Canada, and gender or sex. Further on, I describe theoretical frameworks used to study access to care and explain how and why the framework proposed by Levesque et al. (12) can be used to study immigration and gender-based differences in the process of accessing primary care.

Chapter 3 is a stand-alone empirical research chapter answering the first research question: How do patterns of primary care access compare among recent immigrants, long-term immigrants, and non-immigrants? In this chapter I also provide a brief background on existing patterns of access to care between immigrants and nonimmigrants and highlight the gaps in research.

Chapter 4 is another stand-alone manuscript where I answer the second research question: Does gender interact with immigration groups to shape patterns of access to primary care? Within this chapter, I also discuss concepts of gender and sex along with plausible explanations for how the two may shape patterns of access to primary care.

Chapter 5 is a concluding chapter that integrates findings from chapters 3 and 4 to highlight overarching conclusions and recommendations for policy and primary care service planning. This chapter also provides a summary of strengths and limitations of the analyses in chapters 3 and 4.

Chapter 2.

Background and literature review

2.1. Primary care and immigrant health

In Canada, primary care serves as a first point of access to health care, and supports continuity of care and coordination to specialist care when needed (14). Strong systems of primary care have been associated with broader health system performance and improved health equity (15,16). Ideally, longitudinal relationships allow primary care providers to understand the contexts in which patients live so as to respond effectively to their needs (1).

By definition, at some point everyone needs access to primary care, and access to primary care may be particularly important to immigrant groups as their health is reported to decline overtime due to difficulties accessing needed care among other factors (17). Primary care should be positioned to provide immediate and timely access for immigrants and support the process of navigating an unfamiliar system when services are needed elsewhere. Access to primary care is crucial for connecting with the health care system which is central to the immigrant settlement process in Canada, and may ultimately influence health outcomes among immigrants in Canada (1,18). Given selection processes imposed as part of the immigration system, on average immigrants to Canada are healthier than people born in Canada (labelled the "healthy immigrant effect"), but evidence shows a decline in health status among immigrants with increased stay in Canada (19,20). This decline has been attributed in part to challenges immigrants experience in accessing health care including language, cultural and navigation barriers (5,21,22). Immigrants who come from different countries, cultures, and migration histories need responsive and timely access to primary care that meets their needs and supports continued health (23).

2.2. Defining migration and immigration

How migration and immigrants are defined has significant implications for the study of patterns of access to care among groups. A migrant is defined as a person who resides

in a country other than their country of origin, either permanently or temporarily (24). An immigrant is a person who permanently resides in a country other than their country of birth (24).

At the Canadian federal level, an immigrant is defined as a person who is not born in Canada but permanently resides in Canada and has been granted the right to live in Canada by immigration authorities (25). Immigrants in Canada may include persons that have recently immigrated to Canada, resided in Canada for a number of years and those who have been granted citizenship (25). Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada classifies immigrants into four main categories: economic immigrants, immigrants sponsored by family, refugees and other immigrants (26). There are two federal administrative categories of foreign nationals arriving in Canada. Temporary residents, people who are visiting, studying or working in Canada and maintain their own nationality and ability to return to their country of origin (migrants) and permanent residents, people who come to Canada to resettle (immigrants) (26).

The data source used in my analysis samples are based on place of residence, not status or citizenship, and so may include both temporary and permanent residents. When I describe recent immigrants in my analysis this category may include both permanent immigrants and temporary migrants. When describing published literature, I use the same language as study authors.

2.3. Immigration in Canada

Migration is a natural human phenomenon that is inevitable due to several migratory push and pull factors, including the search for better economic opportunities and standards of living (27). Internationally, migration is growing, increasing from 221 million migrants in 2010 to 272 million people in 2019, including both temporary migrants and immigrants resettling permanently in countries other than their countries of birth (28). Today, 3.5% of the world's total population reside in a country other than their country of birth compared to 2.8% in 2000 (28,29). Globally, 52.0% of immigrants are men and the median age is 39 (30). Among all countries, Canada has the 8th highest percentage of international migrants (30). Immigrants are projected to comprise between 24.5% and 50% of Canada's population by 2036 (26).

Due to an aging population and low fertility rate, migration has been officially encouraged to ensure that Canada's population and labor force continues to grow (26).Canada has actively promoted immigration as a strategy to meet domestic policy objectives, including sustainable growth and addressing labour shortfalls (31). Migration to Canada grew rapidly during the 20th century (31). With the building of the transcontinental railway, the settlement of the prairies and expanding industrial production, there was an intensified demand for labor which was met with aggressive recruitment campaigns by the Canadian government to attract workers. By 1912, there were more than 2.9 million immigrants, up from 420,000 in 1900 (31). Currently, there are 7.5 million immigrants in Canada according to the 2016 population census (25,30). This makes up 21% of the total Canadian population (1 in 5 people) (25). Of the 7.5 million current Canadian immigrants, 1.2 million immigrated between 2011 and 2016 (25). Between 2017 and 2018, international immigration accounted for 80% of population growth in Canada (26). The number of immigrants living within Canada is projected to reach 9 million in 2021 and 10.2 million in 2026 (26). With the increased and active recruitment of immigrants to support the Canadian economic growth through temporary foreign workers, international students and care-giver migrants (26,32,33), supporting immigrants' access to needed health care is a moral and human rights issue. Canada has signed the Global Compact for Migration (34) which commits countries to uphold universal human rights of migrants, including through safe access to services including health care.

2.4. Immigration, health, and health care access in Canada

In the Canadian context, various factors have been shown to shape the health of immigrants including where and how immigrants lived in their original home country, how they immigrated (i.e. under which immigrant category they were admitted into Canada) and where they immigrated to (35). Their health is also influenced by post-migration factors and structural determinants of health in Canada including integration into their new place of residence, income, employment, level of education, racialization as well as the accessibility and responsiveness of health practitioners and the health care system to immigrants' health needs (35). Primary care may play an important role in addressing these needs, but studies about access to primary care report conflicting results with respect to measures including having unmet need, having a regular medical provider, having contact with a primary care provider, and use of emergency departments (3–5,17).

Within quantitative literature, a number of studies compare patterns of access between immigrants and non-immigrants and observe no difference. A longitudinal study by Quesnel-Vallée and Lynch which stratified immigrant groups by sex and race, found that after adjusting for covariates, immigrant men and women had similar odds of having a regular health care provider as Canadian born individuals, and that over a 12-year period, white male immigrants and non-white female immigrants reported fewer unmet health care needs in the past 12 months (3). Laroche also found similar patterns of access to health care services between immigrants and non-immigrants, number of consultations with a general practitioner or nurse (4). Wu and colleagues who use unmet need as a proxy for access found that after controlling for differences in health seeking characteristics, immigrants had a 12.0% (95% CI:6-18) lower risk for reporting unmet need than non-immigrants (5).

In contrast, Sanmartin and Ross found recent immigrants (<5 years in Canada) were two and a half times more likely to have difficulties accessing immediate care (family physician, walk-in clinics and hospital emergency rooms) for a minor, non-life-threatening health problem than Canadian-born respondents (6). Additionally, increasing time since immigration was associated with better access to health care including having a regular place of care(6). Immigrants who have been in Canada for more than five years were less likely to report difficulties accessing care (6). Overall, these studies support the importance of exploring time in Canada in research examining immigration and access to care. They may also indicate a lack of attention to the experiences of temporary migrants who may face added barriers to care.

There are also conflicting results observed within quantitative studies based on types of data sources used. Kalich and colleagues summarise literature in a scoping review to examine what is known about the barriers adult immigrants encounter when accessing Canadian health care services (9). The review found that studies that analyzed secondary data (e.g. government survey data, administrative data) revealed no differences in rates access to health care between immigrants and non-immigrants, with the exception of access to cervical cancer screening (9). On the contrary quantitative studies that used primary data found that immigrants were less likely to have access and use general practitioners compared to Canadian born persons (9,17,36,37).

7

Major differences in the literature comparing patterns of access to care between immigrants and non-immigrants also arise between quantitative and qualitative studies. For example, while quantitative studies in the review reported barriers mostly associated with lack of information about how to access or navigate services and long wait times, qualitative studies also reported access barriers including linguistic and cultural barriers (9). There were also observed differences in focus of studies/topics between quantitative and qualitative studies. While quantitative studies sought to determine if there were existing differences in rates of access to health care, qualitative studies included research concerning health care access experiences (9).

While quantitative studies reported some barriers to accessing care among immigrants, qualitative research provides broader explorations into these barriers. Highlighted barriers and difficulties in accessing timely and needed health care include, language barriers, lack of information about how to access services, differential expectations, type of first contact service used, economic and geographical barriers and lack of culturally appropriate care (5,6,10,38). A qualitative study by Woodgate and colleagues examined experiences of African immigrant and refugee families in accessing primary health care services in Manitoba. Results in the study reported barriers including lengthy wait times, shortage of health care providers, high cost of medication and nonbasic health care (7). Importantly, the study also highlights the struggles of African immigrants and refugees associated with adjusting to the new and unfamiliar environment which affected their access to primary health care including; challenges with transportation, weather, employment, language and cultural differences (7). A study by Marshall, Wong and Levesque reports continued unmet need among Punjabi and Chinese speaking immigrants, participants in the focus groups reported unmet health care needs in relation to barriers to accessing care, lack of health system literacy and unresponsive health system compared to their expectations (8). A comparative qualitative study by Ngwakongwi and collogues compares experiences of French speaking immigrants and non-immigrants in accessing health care services (39). In their study, they observe that both immigrant and non-immigrant participants in the study reported language barriers and difficulties finding a family doctor. However, recent immigrants in the study reported a lack of insurance coverage for drugs, transportation difficulties and limited knowledge of the health care system as major barriers to accessing required health care (39).

Given that qualitative studies document persistent barriers and unmet need in accessing primary care among immigrant populations, there is a need to further scrutinize quantitative research that finds no difference in access. Differences in access may also be obscured by lack of attention to length of time in Canada and inclusion of temporary migrants in analysis. Another major explanation for these differences is that quantitative studies have not adequately conceptualized access nor captured difficulty in the process of system navigation to realize access. For this reason, in section 2.7 I describe theoretical frameworks that may be useful in refining conceptualization of access and intersecting factors such as gender that may also shape access. In the section that follows I explore gender, sex, and access in detail.

2.5. Sex, gender, and access to primary care

Gender and sex may interact with migration to shape how people interact with the health care system (40–42). Sex describes a multidimensional biological construct that encompasses anatomy, physiology, genes and hormones (43,44). Gender describes socially constructed roles that pertain to how people perceive themselves and express themselves vis a vis those roles (45). Gender includes expressions and identities which are influenced by social and cultural environments (43). While biological sex may shape need for health services, gender likely plays a greater role in shaping how people experience and navigate health care.

Most published Canadian studies on access to primary care using quantitative data use self-reported binary categories that are typically ambiguous with respect to whether they are measuring legal sex, sex assigned at birth, and/or gender. Within this literature, people who self-identify as women report using health care services more than men and have higher odds of reporting a general practitioner consultation, of having multiple general practitioner visits, of having longer consultations and of having a regular family physician than men (45). Self-identified women report more visits with a primary care provider for both physical and mental health concerns than men (46). Men are less likely to have a regular physician than women, and reasons for not having a family doctor differ between men and women. For example, men reported a single main reason; they did not try to contact a family doctor compared to women who reported several reasons such as, family doctors were not taking new patients or their family doctor had retired or left (47). There are also observed gender differences in the location of primary care services. Men

are reported to be less likely than women to report a visit to the doctor's office and more likely than women to have used the emergency unit as their first contact of care. The likelihood of women contacting emergency services was about half that of men (47).

2.6. Sex, gender, migration, and access to care

While there has been a substantial number of studies on patterns and barriers to care in relation to gender and sex in Canada, fewer studies examine gender or sex in the context of migration, and fewer still include male immigrants. One study found that 87% of female recent immigrants reported having a regular medical doctor compared to only 77% of male recent immigrants having a regular medical doctor, which is similar to the patterns reported among non-migrants (11). Although women are generally more likely to use primary care services more than men, they are also more likely to experience difficulties accessing urgent and routine care for minor problems (6). Immigrant woman are even more likely to report barriers in accessing immediate and routine care than nonimmigrant women. For example, recent immigrant women are ten times more likely than Canadian born women to identify barriers to care such as transportation, language, cost or lack of information about where to go for care (6). Research is more limited among immigrant men than women. In a meta-analysis of barriers to care among immigrant populations in Canada, Ahmed, Shommu and colleagues found that out of all 27 studies, fourteen focused on barriers faced by immigrant women alone and the remaining 13 included both men and women with no studies focused on men's needs (10). Given observed differences in access between men and women, additional research examining how gender and immigration interact to shape access is warranted. In the following sections, I will connect the identified gaps in literature to conceptual frameworks that can be used to unpack the concept of access, including among groups defined by immigration and gender.

2.7. Theoretical frameworks to guide understanding of health care access

How health care access is conceptualized and operationalized in health-services research is important to examining patterns of access. In this section, I explain limitations of the traditional Social Behavioural Model of Health Service use by Andersen et al. (48)

and how it can be used along with a newer framework proposed by Levesque et al. (12) to respond to gaps in health services literature and examine patterns of access to care among immigrants.

Within the field of health services research, the Social-Behavioural Model of Health Services Use by Andersen et al. (Figure 2.1) is a foundational conceptual model that has been previously used to explain individual and population differences in health care use (48). The model identifies three sets of predictors of health care use: predisposing characteristics, enabling resources, and need (48). **Predisposing characteristics** include demographic variables such as gender, marital status, age, and education level. **Enabling resources** refer to social, organizational, and structural resources that serve as conditions enabling service utilization. These include regular source of care and nature of source, transportation, travel time to and waiting time for health care (48). **Need** represents both perceived and evaluated need for health care services (48). Perceived health status is defined by how people view their own general health and functional state and evaluated need represents professional judgement about health status and need for medical care (48).

 Figure 2.1.
 The Andersen Model of Health Care Utilization (Andersen, 1995)

 ENVIRONMENT
 POPULATION CHARACTERISTICS

 HEALTH
 OUTCOMES



The Andersen model is helpful in accounting for predisposing characteristics and enabling resources, which supports the examination of a broad range of individual and social determinants that relate to service use. However, the conceptualization of how people actually access services is limited, in that "use of health services" appears to follow directly from need. For this reason, the Andersen model is of only limited use in understanding experiences of health care system navigation and access.

More recently Levesque et al. (12) put forward a conceptual framework that more fully explores the concept of access. The authors define access as the opportunity to reach and obtain appropriate health care services in situations of perceived need of care. This conceptualization of access is not limited to the availability of health services, and includes both realized and potential access(12). Levesque and colleagues distinguish health care needs, perception of needs and desire for care, health care seeking, reaching and utilization within an interlocking pathway of access (Figure 2.2). It is helpful in exploring access to care among immigrants in Canada in that it breaks down 'health care use' from Anderson into actual stages that enable a person to contact and obtain health care.





The Levesque framework is also useful in that it can help identify barriers and inform interventions to improve access. It specifies both individual characteristics (demand side factors, pictured below the blue arrow) and features of the health system (supply side factors, pictured above the blue arrow), relevant to how an immigrant could move through

each stage. For example, it may highlight that even where services exist, immigrants may find them unapproachable or unacceptable due to lack of information and outreach, or lack of attention to cultural relevance of care (12). It is therefore particularly helpful to examine patterns of how immigrant populations navigate primary care.

Within my thesis, I use the Andersen model to identify explanatory covariates that may be associated with immigration and that also shape access to health care. I supplement this with the more detailed Levesque framework to guide the selection and categorization of outcome measures related to primary care access from the CCHS. In the sections that follow I explore in more detail how the Levesque framework may be applied to explore differences in access by immigration and sex/gender.

2.8. Application of the Levesque conceptual framework in the context of immigration, sex, and gender

The framework developed by Levesque at al. was not developed with examination of health care service use in the context of immigration in mind. That said, the major stages of the framework are useful in guiding consideration of how experiences of migration may shape access to health care generally and primary care specifically. In the section that follows, I describe each stage and then consider first how immigration and then how a person's sex or gender may influence access to care at this stage, with reference to published literature.

I discuss demand-side factors in detail since migration, sex, and gender are associated with the populations accessing care. However, the supply side of the model will later be useful in interpreting findings to inform interventions and policy responses to any observed differences in access.

Health care needs

Health care need is defined in relation one's perceived health status, the processes, and mechanisms available to meet the identified need and the resources that enable one to successfully go through the process of meeting their need (12). The perceived gap in health state that creates a need for health intervention or care can be shaped by cultural understandings of health, health literacy and beliefs around what constitutes good health.

Immigration

There could be various reasons to believe that health status, and corresponding need for health care may differ between immigrants and non-immigrants and may change as immigrants spend more time spent in Canada. A large body of literature makes comparisons of health status between immigrants and non-immigrants, and in general documents better health among immigrants, or a "healthy immigrant" effect (19,35,50). While on arrival immigrants have better health than non-immigrants, over time their health has been observed to converge to match the health of the host country or even become worse than the health of native-born populations. Immigrants in Canada were found to have lower rates of all-cause mortality as well as mortality from cardiovascular diseases, accidents, poisoning, violence, diabetes and respiratory diseases (51). Bold and Danforth report patterns using the Health Utilities Index with 33.8 % of immigrants less than 5 years rating their health as excellent and then dropping to 26.7% among immigrants with residence in Canada between 0-9 years and to just 22.1 % with the longest duration of residence (10+ years) (52). Various explanations for the healthy immigrant effect and attenuation of health over time have been explored. Highlighted explanations include, health screening and restrictive migration policies imposed by recipient countries immigrant self-selection, and healthy behaviors prior to migration, followed by adoption of new country's less healthy behaviors (3,4).

Changes in health status over time since arrival are also likely to shape need for services. Carrasco and colleagues found that on arrival only 3.5% of immigrants reported unmet needs and poor health status, a significant and steady increase in self-reported poor health status as well as unmet health needs was reported during the following four years (53). This means that in understanding patterns of access to health care through comparisons between recent immigrant, long-term immigrant, and non-immigrant populations, it is important to consider health status and other determinants of health care need.

Sex/gender

Biological sex may shape need for health care, but gender may have more pronounced impacts on all stages of the Levesque model due to the social, structural, and systemic construction and influence of gender. Sex may shape health care needs related

14

to pregnancy and childbirth (54). In addition, genetic, hormonal and metabolic differences have been shown to influence the susceptibility to certain diseases across sex lines (44). Examples include susceptibility to heart diseases and sex specific cancers (44).

Gender is known to have a significant impact on one's social economic status which in turn affects one's health status and health needs (55–57). For example there are gender differences in occupation and social roles between men and women which may result in differences in income, education, nutrition, occupational exposures and stressors that may impact health status and health care needs (58).

Perception of need and desire for care

Within the framework, perception of need and desire for care is the first stage when considering use of health care services. On the supply side, approachability encompasses factors such as geographical location of place of care and responsiveness of care providers to specific patient population demands. Demand side factors includes a person's level of knowledge and awareness about the health care system and available services intertwined with one's beliefs, trust, and prior experiences with the health care system

Immigration

Factors that may impact how approachable a patient finds a service include transparency regarding available treatments and services and the extent of outreach activities to reach various social and geographical population groups.

Beliefs related to health and sickness and past experiences and expectations of health systems may differ between immigrants and the Canadian born population, and so perception of need and desire for care may also differ (35,59). For example, in a qualitative study that explored perceptions of unmet health care needs among Punjabi and Chinese speaking immigrant participants, participants reported higher unmet need due to past experiences with different health systems that provided additional components of health care than those covered within the Canadian health care system (8). Previous experiences especially among immigrant women have shaped their expectations of health care systems as their needs or expectations were not met during previous interactions (9). Another study observed that Canadian-born citizens and long-term immigrants may be better able to advocate and have higher expectations compared to recent immigrants with low expectations, which in turn form perceptions and beliefs that care would be inadequate and thus impact perceptions of need and desire for care negatively (9).

Sex/gender

The social construct of gender and socialized roles across the gender spectrum may contribute to gendered experiences of need and desire for care. As a result of gender socialization men and women may differ in perception of symptoms and the evaluation of severity. For example, in a study that examines illness orientation as a determinant for sex differences in utilization of medical care in the United States found that compared to men, women score significantly higher interest and concern with health, and report more symptoms (60). Women may be more ready to express need and desire for care than men (61). With gender roles, women are also more frequently involved in child care including arranging health care for their children which may increase health care visits and as a result shape their own perception of needs (41,61,62). On the contrary, a study by Dominic Azuh and colleagues explores the socio cultural factors of gender roles in women's health care utilization in South West Nigeria, and observed that due to dominant patriarchal cultures in some societies, women's health care needs and decisions are predominantly decided by the man (63). As such, gendered perception of need and desire for care may vary across cultures.

Health care seeking

This stage describes the process of following through to seek desired care and the expression of the intent to obtain desired care. On the supply side, social and cultural competencies, gender, language, as well as the values and beliefs of service providers relating to their practice and the system may determine how acceptable the services are to potential users (12). Demand side factors that may influence whether one goes out to look for desired care may include social cultural factors, personal beliefs, and norms. These factors are important at this stage as they impact whether one expects available services will be acceptable and appropriate and thus impact whether they take the step to go after these services.

Immigration

Immigrants have diverse social and cultural values that may determine whether they deem available services as accepting and appropriate (9,10). Given demand-side differences in language, culture and social values between immigrants and Canadian born residents, and demand-side differences in whether and how systems are oriented to deliver acceptable care to immigrants, health care seeking may differ between immigrants and non-immigrants. In a scoping review on immigrant experience of health care access by Kalich et al., the most reported barriers to accessing care were linguistic barriers, dissatisfaction with patient/provider interaction and cultural barriers (9). Related to cultural barriers was significant reporting of barriers to accessing care due to a lack of female health care providers in qualitative studies involving female immigrants (9).

Sex/gender

Health seeking behaviors may also vary along the gender spectrum (60). Cultural and patriarchal norms for example perpetuate masculine identity that affects men's decision making to seek health care even when it is required. Societal gender expectations where masculinity is associated with being stoic and strong may prevent many men from reaching out for health care when they need it (44). Such expectations on men result in a decrease in required care which could mean fewer men reporting to seek, reach or utilize health care resources. For example, the fear to admit weakness may prevent men from taking health promotion messages seriously or seeking care when health problems arise (44). Adherence to masculine ideals often result in avoidance and negligence of health care, risky lifestyles and ultimately lower health care seeking behavior among men (64–66).

In addition, given the gender roles and responsibilities of child rearing and care placed on women, men may be less likely involved in health care seeking for their family. Due to these gender roles and the expectations that women are responsible for health care in the family, health promotion and outreach programs target women more than men (44,67). This may further perpetuate women being more involved in health care seeking behavior than men.

17

Health care reaching

Distinguished from health care seeking, health care reaching defines the initial point of contact with the health care system or health care professional. This stage encompasses factors that affect personal mobility and physical accessibility to service providers. Aspects of this stage that hinder availability and accommodation include unequal geographic distribution and allocation of health care resources (12). On the supply side, this includes accessibility and availability of the both the physical spaces and the service providers, such as geographic location, hours of opening, appointment mechanisms, and capacity of health resources to provide comprehensive care, density and concertation of the physical space, models of care and qualification of service providers. Demand-side factors that may hinder one's ability to reach care include transportation resources and costs, living environments, physical mobility, and extent of social support to allow one to reach services.

Immigration

Compared to Canadian born residents and people who have lived in Canada for some time, recent immigrants in particular may have challenges navigating the transit system and the entire health care system to reach providers. Immigrants may also be more likely to have working hours that limit timely access to care. For example, due to precarious work, immigrants may have work schedules that conflict with regular business hours and medical appointments and lack access to paid sick leave (23). In a quantitative study that used surveys from the National Immigrant Support Centres between 2015 and 2016, immigrants reported fear of losing their jobs over a medical appointment (68). Therefore, with poor flexible working hours and conditions at work, inability to obtain formal work and inconvenient travel time, immigrants and particularly undocumented migrants report difficulty reaching health care services when needed (68–70). Due to highlighted barriers to reaching a regular family doctor, immigrants may also be more likely to use emergency departments and walk-in clinics, but there is limited literature on these aspects of service use within Canada but some existing evidence elsewhere in the world(71,72).

Sex/gender

Reaching health care is significantly influenced by structural factors associated with gender. Gender roles and expectations may cause differences in access to resources

needed to reach care, including access to transportation, ability to access care at different times of the day among many others (63). Due to gendered inequality in income, level of education and broader social economic status, women may encounter cost related barriers such as travel time, transport expenses and accessibility related challenges of moving with children, all of which may hinder their timely access to required health care services (58).

Health care utilization

Within the Levesque framework this stage relates to the economic capacity to pay for services once people have physically reached the desired health care provider or service (12). On the supply end, affordability of available services and access to insurance may impact one's ability to use required health care services. The direct price of services and associated costs of using services such as transport costs factoring accessibility of service as well as payment models for service use are all supply side factors that may affect one's ability to use services. Demand side factors that may hinder one's ability to pay for services may include health care insurance coverage, existing opportunity costs or other pressing needs that compete with their need for care, social economic status, and overall capacity to generate economic resources.

Immigration

While long term immigrants and Canadian born residents have health insurance coverage, possibly combined with other assets and accumulated wealth, recent immigrants and people with precarious status may lack coverage altogether (73). Additionally, recent immigrants may have more competing economic needs and fewer resources to afford required services. In Quebec, British Columbia and New Brunswick, there is a waiting period of three months before new residents are eligible to apply for the publicly required health care insurance (74). Therefore, cost related barriers are plausible, especially among recent immigrants with limited economic resources and people with temporary status including workers, students and their families (23).

Sex/gender

Overall, women are more likely than men to utilize health care services. Research by Nabalamba, Millar, Deveugele and colleagues confirm that even after adjusting for

19

increased health care needs that are particular to women, women visit family physicians more and report to have longer consultations than men (46,75,76). Still, gendered differences in socioeconomic status between men and women may still shape health care use, and structural and systemic factors such as patterns of social security provision and employment conditions are also gendered. Income gaps and gendered roles may mean women lack economic resources to pay for required health care (63). Men are more likely to find formal employment and to receive employment related health care benefits than women (56,57). Combined, this may shape gendered differences in ability to pay for required health care services.

Health care consequences

This stage is specific to patient experiences of care offered and patient evaluation of the care received. This stage includes the ability to engage which encompasses a person's ability to fully participate in the decision making and treatment pertaining to their health need. The ability of patients to engage in care is intertwined with the appropriateness of health care services provided. This may include supply side factors such as the timeliness or amount of care provided relative to need, correct health evaluation and assessment as well as interpersonal quality of health care provider.

Demand side factors that may affect one's capacity and motivation to participate in care and see to its completion include knowledge about the services provided, health literacy, language, and capacity to, and availability of social support or care givers. Supply side factors that may interplay at this stage include cultural safety, health care providers' technical training, coordination and continuity of care and provider's language and overall communication proficiency (12).

However, patient experiences of primary care are not routinely measured in available data. As my thesis focuses on access to services, consequences and experiences of care are beyond the scope of my analysis.

2.9. Summary of research gaps

Overall, there are two main gaps in research pertaining to the study of patterns of access to primary care immigration that I seek to address in my thesis.

First, there are inconclusive and conflicting results on whether there are differences in access to primary care between immigrants and non-immigrants. As is detailed in the literature review above, the contradiction in previous studies in the literature may be explained by the differing conceptualization and operationalization of access in quantitative and qualitative studies. Another plausible explanation for the contradiction and variance in results is the differing conceptualization and measurement of immigration particularly pertaining to length of stay and of immigrant groups, including whether migrants with temporary or precarious status are part of the study population. Finally, quantitative studies may not have adequately conceptualized access or examined the process of obtaining care from the initial perception of need through to actual utilization of care. Here, the Levesque framework may be helpful in distinguishing stages of access from ultimate health care use. This information is critically important to designing services that are more responsive to immigrant population needs.

Second, there is a need for further examination of gender-based differences in patterns of access to care among immigrants and non-immigrants. There is a particular need for research that explores access to primary care as experienced by male immigrants in Canada (10)

To address these gaps, I will use cross sectional data collected through the Canadian Community Health Survey, including questions newly added in 2015 about access to primary care. The following two chapters describe this analysis.

Chapter 3.

Exploring patterns of access to primary care among immigrants and non-immigrants

3.1. Introduction

Background

In Canada, primary care is intended to be the first and main point of access to health care and to support for continuity and coordination of care when specialist or hospital services are needed (14). As a starting point for accessing health care, primary care may play a particularly important role for people who have recently arrived in Canada. Difficulties accessing primary care may impact overall access to the rest of the health care system, especially for immigrants who may have initial difficulties navigating the health care system (11,77,78).

There are inconclusive and conflicting results on patterns of accessing primary care among immigrants in Canada. A number of studies report that immigrants and nonimmigrants are similar with respect to having a regular medical provider, contact with a primary care physician, use of emergency departments, as well as unmet health care needs (3-5,17). Several other studies report greater difficulties in accessing immediate care among recent immigrants compared to non or long-term immigrants (6,9,17,36). There may also be differences in access and utilization between immigrants and nonimmigrants across primary care models. For example, within fee-for-service practices, recent immigrants are reported to have poorer access and contact with primary care providers compared with long-term immigrants and non-immigrants (17). There is a discrepancy in research findings around access to care between studies quantitative and qualitative studies. While quantitative studies based on secondary analysis of administrative data and surveys show no differences in rate or experiences of access to primary care between immigrants are non-immigrants (5,10,38), qualitative studies highlight language barriers, lack of information on how to access services, economic barriers, geographic barriers and an absence of culturally safe and appropriate services for immigrants (8–10,79).

22

Differences in findings may be attributable to variation across studies in the conceptualization and operationalization of access to primary care. For example, barriers to access may emerge at various stages in the process of accessing care that have not been fully captured in previous work (5,6,80). The study deepens exploration of access by employing the framework proposed by Levesgue et al. (12). This new framework integrates concepts of both potential and realized access, as well as both demand and supply side factors to examine experiences of navigating access and use of health care services. In addition to health care need, which has been examined in other models of access, the framework proposed by Levesque and colleagues identifies four stages in the process of health care access including perception of need, seeking, reaching and utilization (12). The first stage is the perception of need and desire for health care which relates to one's realization of need for care and the extent to which care becomes a priority among other needs. Demand side factors that may impact a patient's ability to perceive health care need include their level of health literacy, health beliefs, trust, and expectations (12). The second stage is the ability to seek, which pertains to one's intention to obtain care, autonomy, and capacity to find care along with the knowledge of available health care options (12). One's ability to seek desired care may be affected by factors including personal and social values, culture, and gender. The ability to reach is the third stage and relates to personal mobility and knowledge about health services that would enable one to physically reach service providers (12). This stage may be affected by demand side factors such as one's living environment, transport, and social support. Finally, the ability to pay for care relates to personal capacity to generate economic resources required to pay for realized health care services (12). Demand side factors that may impact one's ability to pay for utilized health care services may include income assets, social capital and whether or not they have social insurance.

Differences might plausibly exist between immigrant and non-immigrant groups at each of these stages. For example, relating to the first stage, health need, previous studies report major differences in self-reported health status between immigrants and nonimmigrants. Immigrants are less likely to rank their health as very good or excellent and more likely to report unmet health care need (53,80). Differences have also been reported relating to difficulties in how to access or navigate health care services. Unlike nonimmigrants, immigrants report difficulties in accessing and navigating required health care services due to long wait-times, language and socio-cultural barriers, lack of information about how to access services, differential expectations, economic and geographical barriers (3,5,6,9,17). Past studies have demonstrated that immigrants have less contact with health care providers than non-immigrants due to barriers specific to how one gets to the place of care (6,81,82). Immigrants report difficulties securing a regular care provider due to transportation costs, immobility due to precarious working conditions and competing needs like settlement, employment and family responsibilities which may all be prioritized over getting timely access to required health care (68,70,74). Lastly, in relation to actual use of services, immigrants report lower use of existing care compared to non-immigrants, which is due to reported language and cultural barriers that hinder their ability to understand or follow through on treatments prescribed by practitioners (9,10). Cost-related barriers reported among recent immigrants who do not have health insurance may also hinder actual use of existing primary care services (23,83). The Levesque framework's more nuanced conceptualization of access may be useful in pinpointing where health care differences arise due to access issues, and to identify where more targeted system-level interventions are needed to address these differences.

Using the Levesque framework, I seek to compare patterns of access to primary care services between recent, long-term, and non-immigrant groups using cross-sectional data from the Canadian Community Health Survey. Specifically, I explore if patterns of health care seeking, reaching, and utilization differ by immigrant groups after accounting for covariates that are associated with immigration and may also shape the need for and access to care.

3.2. Methods

Data source

I use data from the 2015-2018 cycles of the Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS) to compare patterns of primary care access between immigrants and nonimmigrants. The Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS) is an annual, cross sectional national survey conducted by Statistics Canada. It is a representative sample of 98% of the Canadian population age 12 years and older living in private dwellings, excluding those residing on reserves and other Aboriginal settlements, full-time members of the Canadian Forces, institutionalized populations, and those residing in remote regions. The description of the CCHS survey methodology and weightings can be found elsewhere (13). The survey is instrumental in examining patterns of access to care between immigrants and non-immigrants as it is provides more recent, detailed and uniform information about health at the community level in every province and territory (13).

The CCHS sample is based on place of residence, and not Citizenship or immigration status. The study therefore includes people not born in Canada but who are permanent residents (25,26). The survey sample may also include temporary residents without permanent status, who are people visiting, studying or working in Canada, but who maintain their own nationality (26), though immigration status (permanent/temporary) is not collected within the survey and cannot be identified. I will use the term immigrants but recognize within this analysis the population described may include both permanent and temporary migrants.

I accessed Statistics Canada's Public Use Microdata Files through Simon Fraser University's library. I pooled annual 2015-2018 cycles into a single data set to maximize sample size for all population strata. Survey cycles prior to 2015 include different questions about primary care access and could not be included while the 2015-2018 cycles captured newer measures of access and experiences of navigating primary care services.

Sample selection

I included all respondents aged 18 and above. I excluded respondents missing data for immigrant status and/or valid responses needed to measure access to primary care. The final sample size included 222,949 participants. I applied survey weights provided by Statistics Canada to help account for lower response rates from some groups.

Response variables

The CCHS includes a number of variables related to primary care access, including important ones newly added within the 2015 survey cycle. I identified 12 variables that align with stages of access in the Levesque framework. While the CCHS questions were not designed to measure stages of the framework, grouping of the variables in this way helps structure analysis and reporting of results.

25

The first stage of the Levesque framework is "*Health care need*." I include variables capturing need as adjustment variables in all analyses but comparing need among groups was not my primary objective. Adjustment variables are discussed below.

Following health care need, the second stage in the Levesque framework is "*Perception of needs and desire for care*." This stage could not be comprehensively mapped to CCHS variables, but I included the following variable, which provides some indication of whether people perceived need for a regular provider:

> "No regular health care provider because of no need": "Yes" if the respondent had no regular provider because they perceived no need and "No" if responder had a regular health care provider or had no regular provider for another reason.

The third stage "*Health care seeking*" describes the process of following through to seek desired care and the expression of the intent to obtain desired care. Within the Canadian health care system, it is up to patients to seek out a regular health care provider or place of care. Response variables in this stage therefore capture if and how people sought care. Two variables are related to having a regular health care provider and the remaining variables are related to having a usual place of care, and the type of usual place where care is sought:

- "Has a regular health care provider": this variable records participant responses to having a regular health provider, responses are binary including ("Yes" or "No").
- "No regular health care provider didn't try to find one": "Yes" if respondent has no regular health care provider because they did not try to find one and "No" if respondent has a regular health care provider or does not have a regular health care provider because of other reasons.
- "Usual place for immediate care for minor problem": Responses to having a usual place where participant sought for minor problem (e.g., same family physician office, community health centre, or walk-in clinic) are binary ("Yes" or "No")
- "Type of usual place for immediate care for minor problem": Responses are categorized into binary categories including "Walk-in-clinic or Emergency Department" and "Some other place other than walk-in or ED" which would include a family physician office or community health centre
- "Team-based care for usual place for immediate care": this variable reports the type of place where they usually access immediate care and responses are coded into binary categories; "Professional working as a team" or "Some other place not in teams"

"Health care reaching" is the fourth stage and denotes a participant's ability to physically reach service providers. Potential barriers here also include operating hours and appointment or scheduling structures. Measures of physical accessibility (location, transportation) were not available in the CCHS, but two variables may inform operating hours and appointment mechanisms.

- "Waiting time for Immediate care for minor problem": captures how long one had to wait to get access to immediate care and responses are categorized into binary categories including "Same/Next Day" and "More than same/next day."
- "Last visit to a hospital's emergency department for condition treatable by regular primary care provider": captures reaching as it suggests that the individual was not able to reach another source of care in the context of a specific visit. Responses for this variable are coded into binary "Yes" and "No."

The fifth and last stage is "Health care utilization." This reflects actual use and capacity to pay for services once people have physically reached the desired health care provider or service. I include three measures of service utilization:

• "Used a hospital emergency room in past 12 months": "Yes" if survey respondent had a consultation in past 12 months and "No" if survey participant had no consultation.

- "Consulted with a nurse in past 12 months": "Yes" if survey respondent had a consultation in past 12 months and "No" if survey participant had no consultation.
- "Consulted with a family doctor or general practitioner in past 12 months":
 "Yes" if survey respondent had a consultation in past 12 months and "No" if survey participant had no consultation.

When analyzing each of the above outcome variables, surveys where participants responded "Don't know" or where responses were missing were excluded from the sample (listwise deletion) for that analysis.

Explanatory variables

"Immigrant Group" was the main explanatory variable. This variable was constructed from a combination of two variables on the CCHS: status as either "immigrant or non-immigrant (born in Canada)" and "length of time since immigration". The variable categories include non-immigrants, recent immigrants (0-9 years in Canada), and long-term immigrants (10+ years in Canada). Within the Public Use Microdata File "length of time since immigration" was only available in these two categories (0-9 years and 10+ years).

Andersen's model of health utilization (48) was used to guide the choice of covariates from the CCHS that shape patterns of access to care and could also be correlated with immigration group. The Andersen's model is used to choose covariates as it more clearly articulates multi-level factors that affect health seeking behavior and health services utilization. Variables for this analysis are categorized into predisposing, enabling and need characteristics based on the Andersen model. All may be associated with immigration and also independently shape outcome variables.

Predisposing characteristics include biological sex (male and female) or gender, age of respondents (grouped into 18-34, 35-54, 55-74, 75+), and sexual orientation. The CCHS asks whether respondents are "male" or "female", but it is not clear if respondents would interpret this to reflect legal sex, sex assigned at birth, or gender. As such, I describe this variable as sex/gender. I use the language "male" and "female" in describing results to be consistent with language used on the survey which has two response categories:

"heterosexual" identifying; respondents who identify as having sexual attraction primarily to adults of the opposite sex and "gay/bisexual" identifying; respondents who identify as having sexual attraction to adults of the same sex or both sexes. Being a sexual or gender minority is a known push factor for migration and also can shape experiences within the health care setting (84,85).

Immigrants are disproportionately racialized. As previous work shows that racialized immigrants often experience discrimination in health care interactions which subsequently influences subsequent health care seeking (86,87). The variable of "cultural/racial background" as described on the CCHS was used as a proxy for racialization. Categories under this variable include "White," identifying respondents who self-identify as Caucasian in race and white in colour and "non-White" as respondents who identify as a visible minority, including non-Caucasian in race and non-white in colour according to the Canadian Employment Equity Act. This binary variable was the only one available within the Public Use Microdata File that had to do with racialization.

Enabling factors include resource-based characteristics that play a role in peoples' ability to access or use health care. Total personal income was broken into three selfreported tiers includes lower income (below 39,000 dollars per year), middle income (40,000 to 79,000 dollars per year) and higher income (more than 80,000 dollars per year). Educational attainment was grouped into three categories: less than secondary school, secondary school and more than secondary school. Region of residence was included to account for differences in health system resources (small cell counts meant it was not possible to include individual provinces). Regions are as follow: Atlantic Canada (New-Brunswick, Newfoundland and Labrador, Prince Edward Island and Nova-Scotia), Quebec, Ontario, the Prairies (Manitoba, Alberta, and Saskatchewan), British Columbia, and the Territories (Northwest Territories, Nunavut, and Yukon). Marital status was recoded into a binary categorical variable with two responses "Married/common law" and "Single/Divorced". The variable is included as proxy for social capital and social support which is known to play an important role in if and how immigrants seek and use health care (88). Knowledge of official language is also categorized under enabling factors with two response categories; "English/French" or "Neither English nor French." Access to supplementary insurance may be a proxy for broader resources related to health which may affect one's ability to pay or use available care services. The variable "prescription medication for all or part cost coverage" is used to assess cost related barriers to care and

has two binary responses "Yes" if respondent had full/partial insurance coverage for prescription medication and "No" if respondent did not have coverage.

To account for differences in need for health services in addition to predisposing characteristics I examined "Perceived health status" with two binary responses "Poor/Fair" and "Good/Excellent/Very good."

Statistical analysis

To describe differences across immigrant groups, I calculated unweighted frequencies and weighted percentages of all response and explanatory variables stratified by immigration group.

I used univariable logistic regression to examine the unadjusted association between immigration group and primary care measures and report unadjusted odds estimates and 95% confidence intervals. I use multivariable logistic regression models to estimate effects by immigrant group, adjusting for all covariates/explanatory variables as described above. Lastly, I examined the unadjusted and adjusted odds estimates by immigration group to determine if there are patterns across stages of the Levesque framework. I completed all statistical analysis using SAS 9.4 and data from Statistics Canada CCHS Public Use Microdata files.

3.3. Results

Characteristics of immigration groups

From the 2015-2018 CCHS cycles, 222,949 respondents with complete responses for immigration variables were pooled for inclusion in the analysis. Among the 222,949, 7194 (6.1% weighted percentage) were recent immigrants, 23,730 (16.9%) were long-term immigrants and 185,979 (77.1%) were non-immigrants.

Compared to recent immigrants and non-immigrants, long-term immigrants were older (47.3% age 55+) (Table 3.1). Sex/gender was similar across groups. The percentage of non-white respondents was higher among recent (81.0%) and long-term (60.3%) immigrants compared to 8.6% among non-immigrants. More than half of immigrants were married or in a common law relationship (66.5% recent and 67.5% long-term) compared to 55.0% of non-immigrants. A slightly higher percentage of non-immigrants identified as

gay/bisexual (3.3%) followed by recent immigrants (2.8%) and long-term immigrants (1.2%). Recent immigrants were more likely to reside in Ontario (41.5%) and the Prairies (24.1%) while long-term immigrants were more likely to reside in Ontario (55.1%) and British Columbia (17.9%). More immigrants (5.6% recent and 3.7% long-term vs 0.2% non-immigrant) reported proficiency in languages other than English or French. A slightly higher percentage of immigrants reported having no insurance for all or partial prescription medications (15.4% recent, 13.0% long-term vs 9.1% non-immigrants). More than half of recent immigrants (65.2%) had a personal income less than \$39,000 per year compared to 54.5% long-term and 48.8% non-immigrants. Regarding level of education, 19.3 % of non-immigrants had less than secondary education compared to 14.0% of recent immigrants (recent and long-term immigrants) had a post-secondary education than non-immigrants. A higher percentage of immigrants (66.8%) rated their health as excellent or very good, compared to 53.9% and 62.4% for long-term immigrants and non-immigrants, respectively (Table 3.1).

Characteristic	Recent Immigrant Long-term Immigrant (0-9 years) (10+ years)		Non-immigrant	p- value (Chi²)
	N = 7194 (3.3)	<i>N</i> =23730 (10.9)	<i>N</i> =185979 (85.7)	
<i>N</i> = 222949	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
Age group (Years)				
18 to 34	2847 (42.3)	2373 (14.7)	37715 (28.0)	<.0001
35 to 54	3065 (41.3)	6907 (36.3)	48219 (29.3)	
55 to 74	409 (7.1)	9651 (36.1)	63850 (27.6)	
75+	65 (0.9)	4390 (11.2)	20333 (6.8)	
Missing	808 (8.5)	409 (1.7)	15862 (8.4)	
Sex/gender				
Male	3336 (47.9)	11039 (49.2)	86094 (49.6)	0.8010
Female	3858 (52.1)	12691 (50.8)	99885 (50.5)	
Racialization				
White	1362 (17.7)	12829 (38.5)	163899 (85.8)	<.0001
Non-White	5754 (81.0)	10585 (60.3)	8042 (8.6)	
Missing	78 (1.2)	316 (1.2)	14038 (5.6)	
Sexual orientation				
Heterosexual	6307 (88.3)	21506 (89.7)	165307 (88.7)	<.0001
Gay/Bisexual	179 (2.8)	418 (1.7)	5265 (3.3)	
Missing	708 (8.9)	1806 (8.6)	15407 (8.9)	
Region of residence				
Atlantic Canada (NB, Newfoundland, PEI, NS)	187 (1.2)	502 (0.8)	25186 (8.5)	<.0001
Quebec	1247 (18.7)	2708 (13.1)	41688 (26.1)	
Ontario	1884 (41.5)	10401 (55.1)	50716 (34.4)	
Prairies (Manitoba, Alberta, Saskatchewan)	2455 (24.1)	4299 (13.0)	38533 (18.7)	

 Table 3.1. Descriptive characteristics (unweighted counts and weighted percentages) of analytic sample by immigation group, CCHS 2015-2018

Characteristic	aracteristic Recent Immigrant Lon (0-9 years) (10-		Non-immigrant	p- value (Chi²)
	N = 7194 (3.3)	<i>N</i> =23730 (10.9)	<i>N</i> =185979 (85.7)	
N = 222949	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
Territories	81 (0.1)	252 (0.1)	4900 (0.4)	
British Columbia	1340 (14.5)	5568 (17.9)	21401 (12.0)	
Marital status				
Married/common-law	4573 (66.5)	14005 (67.5)	91481 (55.0)	<.0001
Widowed/separated/divorced/single	2606 (33.4)	9615 (32.2)	94077 (44.8)	
Missing	15 (0.1)	110 (0.3)	421(0.2)	
Knowledge of official language				
English/French	6854 (94.3)	23051 (96.3)	185666 (99.8)	<.0001
Neither English nor French	331 (5.6)	655 (3.7)	183 (0.2)	
Missing	9 (0.1)	24 (0.1)	130 (0.1)	
Insurance-prescription medications-all/part				
Yes	2423 (31.9)	8740 (36.6)	77165 (41.3)	<.0001
No	1103 (15.4)	2945 (13.0)	17678 (9.1)	
Missing	3668 (52.7)	12045 (50.4)	91136 (49.7)	
Personal income				
Less than \$39k	4357 (65.2)	12728 (54.5)	93163 (48.8)	<.0001
\$40k to \$79k	1311 (16.9)	6434 (26.0)	48728 (26.0)	
\$80k+	540 (6.4)	3388 (13.7)	24166 (14.3)	
Missing	986 (11.6)	1180(5.8)	19922 (11.0)	
Education level				
Less than Secondary	1125 (14.0)	3260 (11.8)	43269 (19.3)	<.0001
Secondary	1080 (17.1)	4657 (20.0)	41292 (23.0)	
Post-Secondary	4912 (67.8)	15381 (66.1)	99168 (56.3)	
Missing	77 (1.1)	432 (2.1)	2250 (1.4)	

Characteristic	Recent Immigrant (0-9 years)	Long-term Immigrant (10+ years)	Non-immigrant	p- value (Chi²)
	N = 7194 (3.3)	<i>N</i> =23730 (10.9)	<i>N</i> =185979 (85.7)	
N = 222949	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
Perceived health status				
Excellent	2406 (32.7)	4853 (21.6)	39427 (24.2)	<.0001
Very Good	2509 (34.1)	7603 (32.3)	68587 (38.2)	
Good	1898 (27.6)	7514 (32.4)	52353 (26.6)	
Fair	293 (4.3)	2574 (9.5)	18456 (8.0)	
Poor	81 (1.1)	1121 (4.0)	6865 (2.8)	
Missing	7 (0.1)	65 (0.3)	291 (0.1)	

Source: Canadian Community Health Survey, 2015-2018, Statistics Canada

Patterns of Health Service Use by Levesque Stage

Perception of need and desire for care

Differences in participants who reported not having a regular provider because of no need to access one were pronounced, especially between recent immigrants and other groups. While 7.1% of recent immigrants reported not having a regular provider because of no need, only 4.1% of non-immigrants and 3.1% of long-term immigrants did (Table 3.2). Odds were significant in both unadjusted and adjusted analysis. Adjusted odds ratios (AOR) of not having a regular provider because of no need were significantly higher among recent immigrants compared to non-immigrants and lower among long-term immigrants compared to non-immigrants (AOR recent vs. non-immigrant: 1.83, 95% CI 1.57-2.14) AOR long-term immigrant vs. non-immigrant: 0.77, 95% CI: 0.67 - 0.86) (Table 3:3).

Seeking

As with perception of need, differences in where and how people sought care were observed among all groups. However, the largest differences were between recent immigrants and other groups. A lower percentage of recent immigrants reported having a regular provider (73.0%) and a usual place of care (82.5%), followed by non-immigrants (84.2%, 89.0%) and long-term immigrants (88.5%, 90.0%) respectively. In unadjusted and adjusted analysis, recent immigrants faced lower odds of having a regular provider in comparison with non-immigrants (AOR: 0.49, 95% CI: 0.45 - 0.54), whereas long-term immigrants had higher odds of having a regular provider (AOR:1.44, 95% CI:1.34 - 1.54). The odds of having a usual place of care were also significant in both adjusted and unadjusted analysis (AOR recent vs. non-immigrant: 0.61, 95% CI: 0.55 - 0.67) (Table 3.3, Figure 3.1 and 3.2)). A higher percentage of recent immigrants (9.2%) reported having no regular provider because they did not try to find one followed by non-immigrants (4.4%) and long-term immigrants (3.2%) (Table 3:2). The odds of having no regular provider because they did not try to find one were significant in both adjusted and unadjusted analysis. The Odds were higher among recent immigrants compared to non-immigrants (AOR: 2.26, 95% CI:1.97 - 2.59) and lower among long-term immigrants compared to nonimmigrants (AOR: 0.71, 95% CI:0.61 - 0.81) (Table 3:3).

Among respondents with a usual place of care, a higher percentage of recent immigrants reported that the usual place was a walk-in clinic or emergency department (45.1%), followed by non-immigrants (35.4%), and long-term immigrants (30.5%) reporting the same. Odds were significant in both unadjusted and adjusted analysis (Table 3:3). In contrast, a lower percentage of long-term immigrants reported their usual place of care provides care in teams (21%), followed by non-immigrants (25.9%) and recent immigrants (27.6%). There was no significant difference in odds of team-based care between recent-immigrants and non-immigrants (Table 3:3).

Reaching

Groups had similar patterns on measures of reaching care, though measures did not capture transportation or geographic barriers. The odds of visiting an emergency room for conditions treatable at one's regular place of care were similar between recent and non-immigrants in both adjusted and unadjusted analysis (AOR: 0.98, 95% CI 0.71 - 1.31) In contrast, odds of visiting an emergency room were lower among long-term immigrants compared to non-immigrants (AOR: 0.70, 95% CI 0.60 - 0.83) (Table 3:3, Figure 3.1 and 3.2). Concerning waiting time for immediate care for a minor problem, a higher percentage of recent immigrants reported same/next day appointment (53.1%), followed by long-term immigrants (49.9%) and non-immigrants (40.2%) (Table 3:2). The odds were similar in both adjusted and unadjusted analysis (AOR recent vs non-immigrant: 1.67, 95% CI:1.52 - 1.84, AOR long-term vs. non-immigrant: 1.47, 95% CI: 1.39 - 1.54).

Utilization

On measures of health care utilization, a higher percentage of non-immigrants (17.7%), reported that they used a hospital emergency room in past 12 months compared to recent immigrants (14.6%) and long-term immigrants (14.3%) (Table 3:2). Odds were significant in both adjusted and unadjusted analysis. The odds of using a hospital emergency room were slightly lower for both recent and long-term immigrants compared to non-immigrants (AOR recent vs. non-immigrant: 0.80, 95% CI: 0.69 - 0.94), (AOR long-term vs. non-immigrant: 0.78, 95% CI: 0.71 - 0.87) (Table 3:3, Figure 3.1 and 3.2)). A lower percentage of recent immigrants reported consulting with a family doctor or general practitioner (60.8%), followed by non-immigrants (68.5%) with long-term immigrants reporting the highest percentage (72.6%). Odds were lower among recent immigrants

compared to non-immigrants in both adjusted and unadjusted odds (AOR: 0.72, 95% CI: 0.64 - 0.80). Odds were relatively higher among long-term immigrants when compared to non-immigrants in both adjusted and unadjusted analysis (AOR:1.23, 95% CI: 1.14 - 1.34). Conversely, a lower percentage of long-term immigrants (5.8%) compared to recent immigrants (7.1%) and non-immigrants (12.0%) reported to have consulted with a nurse in past 12 months. Odds were significantly lower for both recent and long-term immigrants compared to non-immigrants in both adjusted and unadjusted and unadjusted analysis (AOR: recent vs non-immigrant=0.58, 95% CI: 0.47 - 0.71), (AOR long-term vs. non-immigrant: 0.47, 95% CI: 0.41 - 0.53) (Table 3:3).

Table 3.2.	Primary care access patterns of recent-immigrants, long-term immigrants and non-immigrants classified by
	Levesque stages (unweighted counted and weighted percentage), CCHS 2015-2018

Primary care use patterns	Recent Immigrant (0-9 years)	Long-term Immigrant (10+ years)	Non-immigrant	<i>p-</i> Value <i>(Chi</i> ²)
N=222949	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Perception of need and desire for care				
No regular provider because of no need				
Yes	508 (7.1)	691 (3.1)	7355 (4.1)	<.0001
No	6616 (92.9)	22984 (96.9)	177719 (95.9)	
Health care seeking				
Has a regular provider				
Yes	5130 (73.0)	21043 (88.5)	157107 (84.2)	<.0001
No	2035 (27.0)	2661 (11.6)	28412 (15.8)	
No regular provider because didn't try to find one				
Yes	6434 (9.2)	23012 (3.2)	178047 (4.4)	<.0001
No	690 (90.8)	663 (96.9)	7027 (95.6)	
Has usual place for immediate care for minor problem				
Yes	5871 (82.5)	21453 (90.0)	165544 (89.0)	<.0001
No	1281 (17.5)	2200 (10.0)	19735 (11.0)	
Type of usual place for immediate care for minor problem	n			
Walk-in clinic/ER	2655 (45.1)	6208 (30.5)	55243 (35.4)	<.0001
Some other place	3199 (54.9)	15193 (69.5)	109814 (64.4)	
Team-based care for usual place for immediate care				
Professional working as a team	904 (27.6)	5010 (21.9)	32006 (25.9)	<.0192
Some other place not in teams	326 (72.5)	1534 (78.1)	10553 (74.1)	

Primary care use patterns	Recent Immigrant (0-9 years)	Long-term Immigrant (10+ years)	Non-immigrant	<i>p-</i> Value <i>(Chi</i> ²)
N=222949	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Health Care Reaching				
Last visit to ER for condition treatable by regular primary				
care provider				
Yes	271 (60.9)	1401 (67.2)	12161 (59.4)	<.0001
No	198 (39.1)	752 (32.8)	9474 (40.6)	
Waiting time for Immediate care for minor problem				
Same/Next Day Appointment	2490 (53.1)	9341 (49.9)	55059 (40.2)	<.0001
More than Same/Next day	2278 (46.9)	10461 (50.1)	90932 (59.6)	
Health Care Utilization				
Used a hospital emergency room in past 12 months				
Yes	433 (14.6)	1624 (14.3)	15164 (17.7)	<.0001
No	2653 (85.4)	8823 (85.7)	64708 (82.3)	
Consulted with nurse in past 12 months				
Yes	256 (7.1)	875 (5.8)	12035 (12.0)	<.0001
No	3057(92.9)	10416 (94.2)	78972 (88.2)	
Consulted with a family doctor or general practitioner past				
12 months				
Yes	1998 (60.8)	8503 (72.6)	63807 (68.5)	<.0001
No	1311 (39.2)	2783 (27.4)	27148 (31.5)	

Source: Canadian Community Health Survey, 2015-2018, Statistics Canada.

Table 3.3.Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios (weighted) for chosen primary care outcomes of recent (0-9 year in
Canada) and long-term immigrants (10+ years in Canada) compared to non-immigrants (born in Canada), CCHS
2015-2018

Characteristic	Unadjusted OR	Adjusted OR
	OR (95% CI)	AOR (95% CI)
Perception of need and desire for care		
No regular provider no need (Yes vs No) (N=215,873)		
Recent immigrant vs Non-immigrant	1.79 (1.53 - 2.09)	1.83 (1.57 - 2.14)
Long-term immigrant vs Non-immigrant	0.76 (0.67 - 0.86)	0.77 (0.67 - 0.86)
Health care seeking		
Has a regular provider (No vs Yes) (N=216,388)		
Recent immigrant vs Non-immigrant	0.51 (0.47 - 0.55)	0.49 (0.45 - 0.54)
Long-term immigrants vs Non-immigrant	1.43 (1.34 - 1.54)	1.44 (1.34 - 1.54)
No regular provider because didn't try to find one (Yes vs No) (N=215,873)		
Recent immigrant vs Non-immigrant	2.20 (1.92 - 2.51)	2.26 (1.97 - 2.59)
Long-term immigrant vs Non-immigrant	0.70 (0.61 - 0.81)	0.71 (0.61 - 0.81)
Has a usual place for Immediate care for minor problem (Yes vs No) (N=216,084)		
Recent immigrant vs Non-immigrant	0.61 (0.56 - 0.68)	0.61 (0.55 - 0.67)
Long-term immigrant vs Non-immigrant	1.17 (1.09 - 1.27)	1.08 (1.08 - 1.27)
Type of usual place for immediate care for minor problem (Walk-in Clinic/ER vs Some other place)		
N=192,312		
Recent immigrant vs Non-immigrant	1.49 (1.37 - 1.62)	1.48 (1.36 - 1.62)
Long-term immigrant vs Non-immigrant	0.80 (0.75 - 0.84)	0.79 (0.75 - 0.83)
Team-based care for usual place for immediate care (In teams vs Not in teams) N=50,333		
Recent immigrant vs Non-immigrant	1.09 (0.89 - 1.33)	1.10 (0.89 - 1.35)
Long-term immigrant vs Non-immigrant	0.80 (0.72 - 0.89)	0.80 (0.72 - 0.89)

Characteristic	Unadjusted OR	Adjusted OR
	OR (95% CI)	AOR (95% CI)
Health Care Reaching		
Last visit to ER for condition treatable at regular primary care provider (No vs Yes) N=24,257		
Recent immigrant. Vs Non-immigrant	0.93 (0.70 - 1.24)	0.98 (0.73 - 1.32)
Long-term immigrant vs Non-immigrant	0.71 (0.60 - 0.84)	0.70 (0.60 - 0.83)
Same/Next day for immediate care for minor problem (Same/Next Day vs More than same or next day)		
N=170,561		
Recent immigrant vs Non-immigrant	1.67 (1.53 - 1.83)	1.67 (1.52 - 1.84)
Long-term immigrant vs Non-immigrant	1.47 (1.40 - 1.55)	1.47 (1.39 - 1.54)
Health Care Utilization		
Used a hospital emergency room (Yes vs No) N=93,405		
Recent immigrant vs Non-immigrant	0.80 (0.69 - 0.93)	0.80 (0.69 - 0.94)
Long-term immigrant vs Non-immigrant	0.77 (0.70 - 0.86)	0.78 (0.71 - 0.87)
Consulted with nurse (Yes vs No) N=105,611		
Recent immigrant vs Non-immigrant	0.57 (0.46 - 0.70)	0.58 (0.47 - 0.71)
Long-term immigrant vs Non-immigrant	0.46 (0.40 - 0.52)	0.47 (0.41 - 0.53)
Consulted with a family doctor or general practitioner (Yes vs No) N=105,550		
Recent immigrant vs Non-immigrant	0.72 (0.65 - 0.81)	0.72 (0.64 - 0.80)
Long-term immigrant vs Non-immigrant	1.23 (1.14 - 1.34)	1.23 (1.14 - 1.34)

Source: Canadian Community Health Survey, Statistics Canada

Note: Covariates in multivariable models used to generate adjusted estimates include age, racialization, sexual orientation, region of residence, marital status, knowledge of official language, partial/full insurance for prescription medications, personal income, education and perceived health status

Healthcare Seeking Healthcare Reaching Perception of need Healthcare Utilization and desire for care 10 4 1 ģ 9 0.1 Walk-in No regular Has a regular No regular Has a Usual Team based Last Visit to ER Same/Next Day Used a hospital Consulted with Consulted with provider no provider provider did't Place for Care Clinic/ER care for usual for condition for immediate emergency a nurse a family need try to find place treatable at care doctor/GP room regular PCP

Figure 3.1. Log-scale graph showing adjusted odds estimates and 95% CI of recent immigrants compared to non-im migrants

Note: Covariates in multivariable models used to generate adjusted estimates include age, racialization, sexual orientation, region of residence, marital status, knowledge of official language, partial/full insurance for prescription medications, personal income, education, and perceived health status

Figure 3.2. Log-scale graph showing adjusted odds estimates and 95% CI of long-term immigrants compared to non- im migrants

Perceptic and desir	rception of need d desire for care		of need Healthcare Seeking			Health	hcare Reaching		Healthcare Utilizatio		
10											
1 —	ł	+	J	Φ	÷	ł	•	÷	ŧ	+	
0.1	No regular Has provider no pr need	a regular No regular rovider provider because did't try to find one	Has a Usual Place for Immediate Care	Walk-in Clinic/ER for type of usual place	Team based care for usual place for immediate care	Last Visit to ER for condition treatable at regular PCP	Same/Next Day for immediate care for minor problem	Used a hospital emergency room	Consulted with a nurse in past 12 months	Consulted with a family doctor/GP	

Note: Covariates in multivariable models used to generate adjusted estimates include age, racialization, sexual orientation, region of residence, marital status, knowledge of official language, partial/full insurance for prescription medications, personal income, education, and perceived health status

3.4. Discussion and interpretation of results

This analysis aimed to explore how patterns of primary care access compare among recent immigrants, long-term immigrants, and non-immigrant groups in Canada. I observed persistent differences between immigrants and non-immigrants in access to primary care even after controlling for possible explanatory factors such as age, gender, education, and income. Findings also highlight that recent immigrants substantially differ from both long-term immigrants and non-immigrants with respect to how they report need for a regular provider, along with how and where they seek primary care. Results reaffirm prior research (6,8,9,11) that recency of immigration is associated with difficulty finding regular and immediate care and increased unmet need. Long-term immigrants and nonimmigrants show similar patterns in variables grouped under perception of need and seeking health care but begin to diverge at the reaching and utilization stages. This is consistent with prior research (59,89), which shows that increased length of stay provides an advantage with navigating the Canadian health system. However, differences in health care utilization are still observed across all three groups.

To some extent, observed differences between recent and non-immigrants in their perception of need and desire for care may be shaped by recent immigrants' expectations and previous experiences of home country health care systems (9,38,90). Some recent immigrants may come from countries without stable and regular health care providers which may impact expectations and perceived need after settlement in Canada (59). Such past experiences shape immigrants' expectations; that needs will not be met based on previous experiences hence shaping how or whether need is developed (8). Differences in conceptions of health and healing as evidenced in previous research may also account for the observed differing patterns in perception of need and desire for care between immigrants and non-immigrants (38). Another plausible explanation consistent with previous research is information asymmetry within immigrant communities. Recent immigrants are more likely to settle within similar cultural and ethnic communities that have shared expectations and experiences, which become the primary source of information about health care services and health care navigation (91).

While differences may reflect individual expectations and experiences, findings of this study reinforce the need to address supply side factors relating to the design of the health care system, including approachability, accessibility, availability and accommodation, affordability and appropriateness of services (12). Supply side factors pertaining to how approachable a service is, including outreach programs in recent immigrant communities, transparency, and information sharing, may significantly shape development of need and desire to seek care. Culturally appropriate or immigrant tailored services, including members of service delivery teams from the same ethnocultural or ethnolinguistic group. These types of tailored service delivery teams can reflect the diverse needs of immigrants and have been shown to determine and influence how and whether immigrants use and access formal primary care services as well as the choice of health care services used (92).

Findings point to the particular importance of initial approachability and acceptability of services in shaping the perception of need and desire for care among recent immigrants. These initial supply side factors of how approachable or acceptable a service appear to significantly impact subsequent stages of access including seeking, reaching and utilization. This is reflected in the way recent immigrants are less likely to report having a regular provider, and more likely to report not having a regular provider because they did not try to find one and are less likely to have a usual place for immediate care for a minor problem (Table 3:3). This observation reinforces the known social-cultural barriers to care that have been reported in numerous qualitative studies. The lack of culturally competent and linguistically accessible care has numerously been shown to hinder access to care (7,8,10,93) and may be shaping whether and how recent immigrants seek care.

Findings suggest that recent immigrants use walk-in clinics more than other groups, which is consistent with prior research, and has implications for service planning. While the use of hospital emergency rooms is similar between recent immigrants and nonimmigrants, there are significant differences in the use of walk-in clinics or emergency department as a regular place of care. Previous research has found utilization of walk-in clinics to reduce with increased length of stay in Canada as people find more regular sources of care such as family doctors (92). Plausible explanations for the use of walk-in clinics among recent immigrants may include convenience and flexibility of hours of operation. This flexibility and convenience is important because recent immigrants may be working in precarious or less flexible jobs that may not allow for time off to see a regular health care provider or to schedule appointments within regular working hours. The use of walk-in clinics may also be linked to the conceptualization of need and use of health

care services consistent with place of origin. In other words, the care provided in walk-in clinics is perceived and experienced as more approachable compared to other sources of primary care. Recent immigrants had higher odds of reporting same/next day care compared to non-immigrants, which may be linked to the use of walk-in clinics that do not require appointment or scheduling. These observations highlight the importance of ensuring walk-in clinics deliver quality primary care. It is also essential that these clinics are prepared to also deliver screening, preventative care, and to follow patients over time when needed. These observations also suggest the need to identify features of walk-in clinics that contribute to their approachability and acceptability and adopt them in other primary care models.

Finally, similar patterns in perception of need and desire for care, seeking, and reaching observed between long-term immigrants and non-immigrants indicate that there may be similarities in health seeking behavior and similar access to information regarding health care navigation. Such patterns likely reflect the adjustment to the Canadian health care system with increased length of stay among long-terms immigrants as immigrants become familiar with the system. However, this pattern also raises concern regarding delayed response by health care providers to the needs of recent immigrant in their initial settlement. Findings reinforce that interventions at initial settlement of recent immigrants including culturally responsive and approachable primary health care services are needed to improve access to care among immigrants.

3.5. Limitations of study

While survey sampling is intended to capture respondents, who are representative of the Canadian population with respect to measured variables, people willing to respond to a health survey may differ from non-respondents in ways that are relevant to health care, leading to non-response bias (94–96). This is particularly relevant in a study of immigration and health because populations that may not respond to the surveys may be most affected by barriers in accessing health care. As such, the study may be limited to those who may have relatively less demands on time and who may also most likely have fewer barriers in accessing health care. Additionally, this study uses self-reported measures (within the already selected population of respondents). Respondents may choose not to answer questions or may report answers that are perceived to be socially desirable, and this could plausibly vary by immigration group (97). Survey weights provided by statistics Canada do not account for nonresponse bias or population specific differences in responses (98). Differences in access across immigration groups may therefore be underestimated.

The CCHS asks if respondents are "male" or "female." It is not clear if this measure reflects assigned sex at birth or legal sex and gender is not collected, and substantial caution is needed in interpretation of results. In labelling this sex/gender this misclassifies gender identity, imposes cisnormativity, and can contribute to the erasure of trans and nonbinary experience.

Finally, CCHS Survey variables used were not developed to capture elements of the Levesque framework used to guide this research. Variables for each stage along the framework were assigned based on previous health services research. As such, it is possible that variables could have been grouped under different stages. However, I believe the Levesque framework (12) is useful for more carefully conceptualizing and examining access and health services use in the context of immigration. Future research could seek to measure stages of access more directly,

3.6. Conclusion

There are significant differences in measures of access to primary care among immigration groups for all variables examined, though patterns differ by groups. Recent immigrants differed from long-term immigrants and non-immigrants in relation to perception of need and desire for care, seeking and utilization. Long-term and non-immigrants differed with respect to utilization of primary care services. Observed differences between immigration groups may reflect gaps in service organization, planning, and delivery, particularly pertaining to accessibility, approachability, and availability of primary care services. Results from study are relevant to informing primary care policy and planning to ensure responsiveness of health care system to the diverse needs of immigrants especially newcomers. Improvements to primary care services that respond to diverse needs including culturally appropriate and safe services, and the inclusion of language interpreters and outreach within migrant communities are needed to reduce disparities in access to primary care among immigrant communities in Canada.

Chapter 4.

Sex/gender, immigration, and patterns of access to primary care in Canada

4.1. Introduction

Background

Primary care is intended to be the first and main point of access to health care in Canada. Primary care provides support for continuity and coordination of care when specialist or hospital services are required (14). Barriers to primary care access faced by immigrants to Canada may include language, cost and insurance related barriers, knowledge of the health system and social cultural barriers (7,21,77). Patterns of access to primary care may also be further shaped by sex and gender (44,60,99,100). There are existing studies that examine gender or sex differences in patterns of access and use of primary care services in Canada, though many are limited as they do not distinguish between sex and gender. In describing the literature, I use the male/female or men/women as is written in the literature cited, though this does not consistently correspond to analysis of sex or gender. Overall, women are more likely to use health care services than men in Canada (46,99,101). While women may be more frequent users of health care services, their experience rates poorly compared to that of men (47). For example, average wait times for overall diagnostic testing and blood tests are significantly lower for men than for women (47,75). Women were also reported to have visited their primary care provider for both physical and mental health concerns more than men (46).

Research on sex and gender in the context of immigration and primary care access is still limited and inconclusive (47,75,76,99). A study by Degelman and Herman using cross sectional data from the 2011-2012 Canadian Community Health Survey found that compared to male recent immigrants, female recent immigrants are more likely to use primary care services (11). The percentage of people who have a regular doctor were overall significantly higher among all females than males in the study. The study particularly found that 68% of female recent immigrants reported having a regular medical doctor compared to only 55% of male recent immigrants and adjusted odds of having a regular doctor were still higher among female recent-immigrants than male recent immigrants (11). Patterns of primary care use observed among recent immigrant men are reported to be similar to the patterns among non-migrant men (11). While women are more likely to use primary care services including a regular care provider for minor health problem more than men, they are also more likely to experience difficulties accessing urgent and routine care for minor problems (6). Within existing studies, immigrant women are more likely to report barriers in accessing immediate and routine care than non-immigrant women (3,11,47,99). Several studies explore experiences of accessing and using health care services among female immigrants (79,93,102,103) and some studies discussed above compare patterns of access between male and female immigrants. Nevertheless, few studies explicitly focus on or sufficiently explore the experiences immigrant men (21,36, 51,52). In their meta-analysis of barriers to care among immigrant populations in Canada, Ahmed, Shommu and colleagues show that out of all 27 studies, fourteen studies focused on barriers faced by immigrant women alone and the remaining 13 included both men and women (10). None focused exclusively on men.

Both sex and gender may shape need for health care. Sex is a multidimensional biological construct that encompasses anatomy, physiology, genes and hormones, which together affect how one is labelled and treated in the world (43). Biological and physiological differences across the sex continuum may cause variation in the nature and seriousness of health issues (45,48). For example, due to reproductive differences, female people may be more predisposed to reproductive and childbirth-related health issues and more likely to need and use health care services than males. However, beyond the influence of reproductive differences on health, other biological differences have impacts on need for health services between sexes. For example, genetic, hormonal and metabolic differences influence the susceptibility to certain diseases including prostrate, cervical and breast cancer and susceptibility to heart diseases (44). In this study, I define gender as the socially constructed roles that affect how people perceive themselves, their expressions, behavior, and how people act and interact, and may shape both need and patterns of interaction with health systems (45). Social determinants such as level of education, age, ethnicity type of occupation and economic status combined with gender may lead to differences in health status and resultant health care needs, as well as differential resources to access care (55-57). Gender may also shape one's conceptualization of health and resultant health seeking practices (54,99).

I aim to examine how sex or gender and immigration interact to shape patterns of access to primary care in Canada. My conceptualization of access is informed by a framework by Levesque et al., which describes access as a process from identifying and perceiving needs and desire for care, through to how care is sought, reached, and ultimately used.

4.2. Methods

Data source

I used Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS) accessed through Statistics Canada Public Use Microdata files. Within the survey, I used 2015-2018 cycles, which I pooled into single data set to maximize sample size for all population strata. The Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS) is an annual, cross sectional national survey conducted by Statistics Canada. It is a representative sample of 98% of the Canadian population age 12 years and older living in private dwellings, excluding those residing on reserves and other Aboriginal settlements, full-time members of the Canadian Forces, institutionalized populations, and those residing in remote region(13). The sampling frame is based on place of residence and may therefore include people residing in Canada temporarily as well as Canadian citizens and permanent residents. The survey is administered through computer assisted interviewing where the order of questions is programmed based on previous responses. Statistics Canada hires interviewers with wide range of language competencies where necessary. The description of the CCHS survey methodology can be found elsewhere (13).

Sample selection

The sample included respondents age 18 and older. I excluded respondents missing data for immigrant status, sex and measures of primary health care use and access.

Explanatory variables

The survey asks "is [respondent name] male or female." The variable is labeled sex, but it is possible respondents may interpret this to mean sex assigned at birth, legal sex, or gender. As described previously, need for health care may be associated with physiological differences related to sex, such as chromosomes, gene expression,

reproductive anatomy and hormone levels (45), while socially constructed gender roles may affect both need for care and how people interact with health systems (45,46,99,101). It is not possible to distinguish between these processes with the question used in the CCHS. As such I use "sex/gender" to describe the explanatory variable for this study, with the categories "male" and "female" used to describe study respondents, as is reflected in question wording. The cisnormative combination of sex and gender within this variable is a limitation of this analysis.

"Immigrant group" was the other main explanatory variable. Respondents were grouped into recent immigrants (immigrants who have lived in Canada for 0-9 years), longterm immigrants (immigrants who have lived in Canada for more than 10 years), and "nonimmigrant" (people born in Canadian).

I used Andersen's model of health utilization (48) to guide the identification and choice of covariates that are associated with sex/gender and migration and that may also shape patterns of access to care from the CCHS. I included age of respondents (grouped into 18-25, 26-35,36-55,56-80, and 81+). The CCHS includes a variable described as cultural/racial background, including two binary categories: "White" and "non-White". I included this as a proxy for racialization within the Canadian health system. Respondents were also asked about sexual orientation and to choose between two response categories: heterosexual or gay/bisexual. Self-reported sexual orientation between immigrant and non-immigrants may shape patterns of access to care given the varying degrees to which one may feel comfortable seeking care in a dominantly heterosexual society (104,105).

Other explanatory variables include resource-based characteristics that play a role in one's ability to access or use health care. I grouped total personal income into three self-reported responses including lower income (below 39,000 Canadian dollars a year), middle income (39,000 to 79,000 dollars per year) and higher income (more than 79,000 dollars per year). I grouped level of education into three categories (less than secondary school, secondary school and more than secondary school). I included region of residence to account for differences in health systems resources and models. I used regions to combine provinces with small cell counts. Categories under this variable include Atlantic Canada, (New-Brunswick, Newfoundland and Labrador, Prince Edward Island and Nova-Scotia), Quebec, Ontario, the Prairies (Manitoba, Alberta, and Saskatchewan), British

Columbia, and the Territories (Northwest Territories, Nunavut, and Yukon). I also included marital status which I re-coded into a binary categorical variable with two responses "Married/common law" and "Single/Divorced". I categorized knowledge of official language under enabling factors with two response categories: "English/French" or "neither English nor French." Access to insurance for all or partial cost coverage for prescription medication is included as a measure of resources for health services and had two binary responses "Yes" or "No." To account for differences in health needs for health care between populations, I included "perceived health" with four categories "Excellent", "Very-good", "Good", "Fair" and "Poor".

Response variables

I selected five response variables measuring both whether and how people seek and access primary care services, and that were available from the Canadian Community Health Survey between 2015 and 2018. I use the Levesque framework (12) to consider stages of access and group variables in order of the framework, moving from perception of need and desire for care, health care seeking, reaching and utilization.

Two variables describe where and how respondents seek primary health care. The first, "Usual place for immediate care for minor problem" reports whether or not a participant had a usual place for immediate care for minor problems, and responses are coded into binary categories of "Yes" or "No." "Type of usual place for immediate care for minor problem" includes two categories of responses. Respondents either chose "walk-inclinic or emergency department" or "Some other place other than walk-in clinic or ED". One related variable reflects perception of need and desire for care, categorizing reasons for not having a regular health care provider. It distinguishes between people who indicated that they have no regular health care provider because of no need (where "yes" means respondent had no provider and no need) versus ("no"), respondents that had a regular health care provider or did not have a regular health care provider but because of a reason other than having no need.

"Waiting time for immediate care for minor problem" was selected to capture how long respondents reported waiting before reaching needed care. Responses were categorized into binary categories of "Same/next day" and "More than same/next day."

The last variable measures use of services from a primary care physician. Responses to "Consulted with a Family Doctor or General Practitioner in the past 12 months" are coded into categorical variables "Yes," if survey participant had a consultation in past 12 months, and "No," if survey participant had no consultation. For all the above variables, survey responses including "Valid Skip" and "Don't know" or "Missed" were excluded.

Statistical analysis

I calculated unweighted frequencies and weighted percentages of all responses and explanatory variables by immigration and sex/gender as shown in tables 4.1 and 4.2. I used survey weights in the percentages to account for lower or higher response rate from some groups more than others to provide for a representative sample population.

I used logistic regression to examine the extent of the unadjusted association between immigration groups stratified by sex/gender and measures of whether and how people seek and access primary care. Odds estimates for all immigration groups by sex/gender are compared to Female non-immigrant category in table 4.3 and Figure 4.1. I used multivariable logistic regression models to calculate adjusted associations including immigration and sex/gender groups and all other covariates. I report adjusted odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals. Finally, I use logistic regression joint tests to calculate significance of interaction effects of immigration and sex/gender with associated p-values results shown in table 4.3 and figure 4.1. All statistical analysis was completed using SAS 9.4.

4.3. Results

Characteristics of immigration groups by sex/gender

Both male and female recent immigrants were younger than long-term and nonimmigrant respondents, with a higher percentage of respondents below 34 years (40.6 % among male recent immigrants, 43.8% among female recent immigrants) (Table 4.1). Higher percentages immigrants identified as being non-White than non-immigrants (Table 4.1). A slightly higher percentage of female non-immigrants and male recent immigrants identified as being gay or bisexual than other groups (3.6% and 3.4% respectively). A higher percentage of male long-term immigrants (72.8%) and both male and female recent immigrants (64.8% and 68.0% respectively) reported being married or in common law relationships than other immigration and sex/gender groups. A lower percentage of male and female recent immigrants (96% and 92.6% respectively) and female long-term immigrants (95.6%) speak English/French compared to other groups (Table 4.1). Percentage of respondents with insurance for prescription medication was lowest among female recent immigrants (30.9%) followed by male recent immigrants (32.9%), male and female long-term immigrants (36.6% and 36.7% respectively) (Table 3.1).

Across all immigration groups there was a higher percentage of female respondents in the lower income bracket (\$39,0000 per year) than males. Male recent immigrants were underrepresented in the middle (\$40,000-79,000 per year) and high income (more than \$80,000 per year) categories compared to male long-term and non-immigrants. A higher percentage of male and female recent immigrants followed by male and female long-term immigrants reported post-secondary education than non-immigrants (Table 4.1). A higher percentage of male and female recent immigrants (35.5% and 30.1% respectively) reported excellent to very good perceived health status compared to long-term and non-immigrants.

Characteristic	Male recent immigrant	Male long- term immigrant	Male non- immigrant	Female recent immigrant	Female long-term immigrant	Female non- immigrant	p-Values (χ ²)
	N=3336 (2.9)	N=11039 (8.3)	N=86094 (38.2)	N=3858 (3.2)	<i>N</i> =12691 (8.6)	N=99885 (38.9)	
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
Age group (years)							<.0001
18 to 34	1220 (40.6)	1152 (15.5)	17742 (28.6)	1627 (43.8)	1221 (14.0)	19973(27.3)	
35 to 54	1466 (43.0)	3107 (35.4)	22455 (29.7)	1599 (39.7)	3800 (37.1)	25764 (28.9)	
55 to 74	176 (5.9)	4669 (36.8)	29755 (27.2)	233 (8.3)	4982 (35.5)	34095 (28.0)	
75+	32 (1.0)	1896 (10.5)	8010 (5.9)	33(0.8)	2494 (11.8)	12323 (7.6)	
Missing	442 (9.5)	215 (1.8)	8132 (8.7)	366 (7.5)	194 (1.6)	7730 (8.2)	
Racialization							
White	685 (19.8)	5881 (37.6)	75628 (85.5)	677 (15.8)	6948 (39.4)	88271 (86.0)	<.0001
Non-White	2610 (78.6)	5024 (61.2)	3960 (8.9)	3144 (83.3)	5561 (59.3)	4082 (8.4)	
Missing	41 (1.5)	134 (1.2)	6506 (5.6)	37 (1.0)	182 (1.2)	7532 (5.6)	
Sexual orientation							
Heterosexual	2879(87.5)	9980 (90.4)	75777 (88.4)	3428 (89.2)	11526 (89.0)	89530 (88.9)	<.0001
Gay/Bisexual	107 (3.4)	215 (1.9)	2210 (2.9)	72 (2.2)	203 (1.5)	3055 (3.6)	
Missing	350 (9.1)	844 (7.7)	8107 (8.7)	358 (8.7)	962 (9.5)	7300 (7.5)	
Province of residence							
The Maritimes (NB, Newfoundland, PEI, NS)	93 (1.2)	231 (0.8)	11451 (8.2)	94 (1.1)	271 (0.8)	14049 (8.5)	<.0001
Quebec	597 (19.4)	1330 (13.5)	19732 (25.6)	650 (18.0)	1378 (12.7)	22379 (25.8)	
Ontario	862 (38.6)	4817 (54.7)	23748 (34.5)	1022 (44.3)	5584 (55.4)	28994 (34.8)	

Table 4.1. Descriptive characteristics (unweighted counts and weighted percentages) of respondents stratified by immigration group and sex/gender, CCHS 2015-2018

Characteristic	Male recent immigrant	Male long- term immigrant	Male non- immigrant	Female recent immigrant	Female long-term immigrant	Female non- immigrant	p-Values (χ ²)
	N=3336 (2.9)	N=11039 (8.3)	N=86094 (38.2)	N=3858 (3.2)	N=12691 (8.6)	N=99885 (38.9)	
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
The Prairies (Manitoba, Alberta, Saskatchewan)	603 (15.6)	2564 (17.7)	10274 (12.2)	737 (13.4)	3004 (18.2)	11834 (12.2)	
The Territories	28 (0.1)	125 (0.1)	2430 (0.3)	53 (0.1)	127 (0.1)	2553 (0.4)	<.0001
British Columbia	1153 (25.2)	1972 (13.2)	18459 (19.0)	1302 (23.1)	2327 (12.9)	20976 (18.4)	
Marital status							
Married/common-law	2027 (64.8)	7320 (72.8)	44324 (56.6)	2546 (68.0)	6685 (62.3)	47157 (53.5)	<.0001
Widowed/Separated/divorced/Single	1305 (35.2)	3672 (26.9)	41587 (43.2)	1301 (31.8)	5943 (37.3)	52490 (46.3)	
Missing	4 (0.1)	47 (0.3)	183 (0.2)	11 (0.2)	63 (0.3)	238 (0.2)	
Knowledge of official language (English/French)							
English/French	3320 (96.2)	10822 (97.4)	85934 (99.7)	3634 (92.6)	12229 (95.2)	99732 (99.8)	<.0001
Neither English nor French	110 (3.6)	210 (2.6)	88 (0.2)	221 (7.4)	445 (4.7)	95 (0.1)	
Missing	6 (0.2)	7 (0.0)	72 (0.1)	3 (0.1)	17 (0.2)	58 (0.1)	
Has Insurance-prescription medications-all/partial							
Yes	1141 (32.9)	4087 (36.6)	35318 (40.8)	1282 (30.9)	4653 (36.7)	41847 (41.7)	<.0001
No	496 (15.6)	1382 (12.9)	8470 (9.4)	607 (15.2)	1563 (13.0)	9208 (8.8)	
Missing	1699 (51.5)	5570 (50.5)	42306 (49.9)	1969 (53.9)	6475 (50.3)	48830 (49.5)	
Personal income							
Less than \$39k	1662 (55.4)	5042 (48.2)	35493 (40.8)	2695 (74.1)	7686 (60.7)	57670 (56.6)	<.0001
\$40k to \$79k	773 (22.5)	3361 (28.7)	25433 (28.9)	538 (11.7)	3073 (23.3)	23295 (23.1)	
\$80k+	388 (9.9)	2099 (17.9)	15292 (19.3)	152 (3.2)	1289 (9.7)	8874 (9.4)	
Missing	513 (12.2)	537 (5.2)	9876 (11.0)	473 (11.0)	643 (6.4)	10046 (10.8)	

Characteristic	Male recent immigrant	Male long- term immigrant	Male non- immigrant	Female recent immigrant	Female long-term immigrant	Female non- immigrant	p-Values (χ ²)
	N=3336 (2.9)	N=11039 (8.3)	N=86094 (38.2)	N=3858 (3.2)	<i>N</i> =12691 (8.6)	N=99885 (38.9)	
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
Education							
Less than secondary	555 (13.6)	1376 (10.4)	21210 (20.1)	570 (14.4)	1893 (13.1)	22059 (18.5)	<.0001
Secondary	511 (18.4)	2041 (19.5)	19042 (23.4)	569 (15.9)	2616 (20.5)	22250 (22.7)	
Post-secondary	2243 (67.3)	7432 (68.0)	44802 (55.2)	2669 (68.3)	7949 (64.2)	54366 (57.5)	
Missing	27 (0.6)	199 (2.0)	1040 (1.5)	50 (2.2)	233 (2.2)	1210 (1.4)	
Perceived health status							
Excellent	1199 (35.5)	2333 (22.7)	18197 (24.4)	1207 (30.1)	2520 (20.6)	21230 (24.0)	<.0001
Very good	1173 (34.3)	3615 (33.5)	31146 (37.7)	1336 (33.9)	3988 (31.0)	37441 (38.7)	
Good	806 (25.5)	3442 (31.5)	24836 (27.2)	1092 (29.6)	4072 (33.2)	27517 (26.1)	
Fair	121 (3.6)	1133 (8.7)	8566 (7.8)	172 (5.0)	1441 (10.2)	9890 (8.3)	
Poor	35 (1.1)	491 (3.5)	3204 (2.7)	46 (1.2)	630 (4.4)	3661 (2.9)	
Missing	2 (0.1)	25 (0.1)	145 (0.1)	5 (0.2)	40 (0.5)	146 (0.1)	

Source: Canadian Community Health Survey 2015-2018, Statistics Canada

Patterns of access to primary care by immigration and sex/gender group

Where and how respondents sought primary care differed substantially among groups. Percentages of respondents reporting no usual place for immediate care were highest among male and female recent immigrants (20.7% and 14.6% respectively) followed by male non-immigrants and male long-term immigrants (14.3% and 11.5% respectively). Compared to female non-immigrants, odds of having a usual place for immediate care were significantly lower across all groups except among female long-term immigrants in both unadjusted and adjusted analysis. Odds were lowest among male recent immigrants (AOR: 0.36, 95% CI: 0.32 - 0.42) (Table 4.3, Figure 4.1). More male recent immigrants and male non-immigrants (9.8% and 5.6% respectively) followed by female recent immigrants (4.7%) reported no regular care provider because of no need (Table 4:2). In adjusted and unadjusted analysis, male recent immigrants and male non-immigrants had higher odds of having no regular provider because of no need compared to female non-immigrants (AOR male recent immigrants: 3.98, 95% CI:3.24-4.90, AOR male non-immigrants: 2.18, 95% CI: 2.0 - 2.37).

Higher percentages of male and female recent immigrants (46.5% and 44% respectively) reported a walk-in clinic or emergency room as their usual place for immediate care followed by male non-immigrants (39.1%). Male and female long-term immigrants had the lowest percentages of reporting a walk-in clinic or emergency department as usual place for immediate care (31% and 30.1% respectively). In adjusted and unadjusted analysis, male and female recent immigrants had higher odds of using a walk-in clinic or emergency room for a usual place immediate care compared to female non-immigrant (AOR male recent immigrant: 1.82, 95% CI: 1.61 - 2.05), (AOR female recent immigrant: 1.62, 95% CI: 1.43 - 1.83) (Table 4.3, Figure 4.1).

The percentage of male and female recent immigrants (54% and 52.4% respectively) who reported having same or next day appointments were slightly higher than long-term immigrants and non-immigrants (Table 4.2). Adjusted and unadjusted odds of having same or next day appointment were also slightly higher among male and female recent immigrants (AOR male recent immigrants vs female non-immigrants: 1.82, 95% CI: 1.61-2.05), (AOR female recent immigrants vs female non-immigrants: 1.62,95% CI: 1.43 - 1.83).

A lower percentage of male and female recent immigrants (55.5% and 66.0% respectively) reported to have consulted a general practitioner in past twelve months compared to other groups (Table 4:2). Compared to female non-immigrants, odds among recent immigrants were lowest (AOR male recent immigrants vs female non-immigrants : 0.43, 95% CI : 0.37 - 0.50), (AOR female recent immigrant vs female non-immigrant : 0.67, 95% CI : 0.56 - 0.78). Odds were similar between female long-term immigrants and female non-immigrants (Table 4:3).

Summary of immigration and sex/gender interaction effects:

Significant interaction terms for immigration group and sex/gender effects were observed for having a usual place of care (p < 0.0060), type of usual place of care (p < 0.0001) and having relative significance for no regular provider because of no perceived need (p < 0.0701). For each of these variables, male recent immigrants appeared to experience greater barriers to access than would be predicted based on immigration group and sex/gender independently. Male recent immigrants were also most likely to receive a same or next-day appointment and least likely to have seen a family doctor/general practitioner, though the interaction effects did not reach statistical significance.

Table 4.2.Unweighted counts, weighted percentages and p-values for primary care outcomes stratified by immigrantion
group and sex/gender, CCHS 2015-2018

	Male recent immigrant	Male long- term immigrant	Male non- immigrant	Female recent immigrant	Female long- term immigrant	Female non- Immigrant	p-Values (χ ²)
	(<i>N</i> = 3336)	<i>(N</i> =11039)	(<i>N</i> =86094)	(<i>N</i> =3858)	(<i>N</i> =12691)	(N=99885)	
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
Perception of needs and desire for care							
No regular provider no need							
Yes	317 (9.8)	408 (3.9)	4665 (5.6)	191(4.7)	283 (2.4)	2690 (2.6)	<.0001
No	2978(90.3)	10603 (96.1)	80902 (94.4)	3638 (95.3)	12381 (97.6)	96817 (97.4)	
Primary care seeking							
Has usual place for immediate care for minor problem							
Yes	2615 (79.3)	9812 (88.5)	74214 (85.7)	3256 (85.5)	11641 (91.49)	91330 (91.3)	<.0001
No	697 (20.7)	1186 (11.5)	11540 (14.3)	584 (14.6)	1014 (8.5)	8195 (8.7)	
Type of usual place for immediate care for minor problem							
Walk-in clinic/ER	1231 (46.5)	2977 (31.0)	27284 (39.1)	1424 (44.0)	3231 (30.1)	27284 (32.4)	<.0001
Some other place	1374 (53.5)	6810 (69.0)	46680 (60.9)	1825 (56.0)	8383 (60.9)	63134 (67.6)	
Health care reaching							
Waiting time for Immediate care for minor problem							
Same/Next Day appointment	1092 (54.0)	4300 (51.6)	24377 (40.8)	1398 (52.4)	5041 (48.3)	30682 (40.0)	<.0001
More than Same/Next day	953 (46.0)	4649 (48.5)	39049 (59.2)	1325 (47.6)	5812 (51.7)	51883 (60.0)	

	Male recent immigrant	Male long- term immigrant	Male non- immigrant	Female recent immigrant	Female long- term immigrant	Female non- Immigrant	p-Values (χ ²)
	(<i>N</i> = 3336)	<i>(N</i> =11039)	(N=86094)	(<i>N</i> =3858)	(<i>N</i> =12691)	(N=99885)	
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
Health care utilization							
Consulted with a family doctor or general practitioner							
Yes	842 (55.5)	3770 (68.2)	27040 (76.9)	1156 (66.0)	4733 (76.9)	36767 (74.2)	<.0001
No	699 (44.5)	1513 (31.8)	15062 (38.0)	612 (34.0)	1270 (23.1)	12086 (25.8)	

Source: Canadian Community Health Survey, Statistics Canada

	Unadjusted Estimates	Adjusted Estimates	p-Values (χ ²)	
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	Immigration group * sex/gender	
Perception of needs and desire for care				
No regular provider no need (Yes vs No) N=215,873				
Male recent immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	4.00 (3.25 - 4.92)	3.98 (3.24 - 4.90)	0.0710	
Male long-term immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	1.50 (1.26 - 1.77)	1.49 (1.25 - 1.76)		
Male non-immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	2.20 (2.02 - 2.39)	2.18 (2.00 - 2.37)		
Female recent immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	1.83 (1.44 - 2.32)	1.84 (1.44 - 2.36)		
Female long-term immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	0.92 (0.76 - 1.10)	0.92 (0.76 - 1.12)		
Primary Care Seeking				
Usual place for immediate care for minor problem (Yes vs No) N=216,084				
Male recent immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	0.37 (0.32 - 0.42)	0.36 (0.32 - 0.42)	0.0060	
Male long-term immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	0.74 (0.66 - 0.82)	0.73 (0.66 - 0.82)		
Male non-immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	0.57 (0.54 - 0.60)	0.56 (0.54 - 0.60)		
Female recent immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	0.56 (0.49 - 0.65)	0.56 (0.48 - 0.65)		
Female long-term immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	1.03 (0.92 - 1.15)	1.01 (0.91 - 1.14)		
Type of usual place for immediate care for minor problem (Walk-in Clinic/ER vs Some other place) N=192,312				
Male recent immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	1.82 (1.61 - 2.05)	1.82 (1.61 - 2.05)	<0.0001	
Male long-term immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	0.94 (0.87 - 1.01)	0.94 (0.87 - 1.01)		
Male non-immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	1.34 (1.29 - 1.39)	1.34 (1.29 - 1.39)		
Female recent immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	1.64 (1.46 - 1.85)	1.62 (1.43 -1.83)		

Table 4.3.Adjusted and unadjusted odds ratios for chosen primary care outcomes by immigration group and sex, p-
values for tests of interaction effects, CCHS 2015-2018
	Unadjusted Estimates	Adjusted Estimates	p-Values (χ ²)
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	Immigration group * sex/gender
Female long-term immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	0.98 (0.84 - 1.00)	0.90 (0.83 -1.00)	
Health Care Reaching			
Same/Next Day for immediate care for minor problem (Same/Next Day vs More than same or next day) N=170,561 $$			
Male recent immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	1.76 (1.54 - 2.02)	1.76 (1.54 - 2.02)	0.1241
Male long-term immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	1.60 (1.48 - 1.72)	1.60 (1.48 - 1.73)	
Male non-immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	1.04 (1.00 - 1.10)	1.03 (1.00 - 1.07)	
Female recent immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	1.65 (1.46 - 1.87)	1.64 (1.45 - 1.87)	
Female long-term immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	1.41 (1.31 - 1.51)	1.39 (1.29 - 1.49)	
Health Care Utilization			
Consulted with a family doctor or general practitioner (Yes vs No) N=105,550			
Male recent immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	0.43 (0.37 - 0.50)	0.43 (0.37 - 0.50)	0.1157
Male long-term immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	0.74 (0.67 - 0.83)	0.74 (0.66 - 0.83)	
Male non-immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	0.57 (0.54 - 0.60)	0.56 (0.54 - 0.59)	
Female recent immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	0.67 (0.58 - 0.79)	0.66 (0.56 - 0.78)	
Female long-term immigrant vs Female non-immigrant	1.15 (1.03 - 1.29)	1.13 (1.01 - 1.28)	

Source: Canadian Community Health Survey, Statistics Canada

Note: Covariates in multivariable models used to generate adjusted estimates include age, racialization, sexual orientation, region of residence, marital status, knowledge of official language, partial/full insurance for prescription medications, personal income, education and perceived health stat

Figure 4.1. Log-scale graph showing adjusted odds estimates and 95% CI of sex/gender and immigrant groups compared to female non-immigrants



Note: Covariates in multivariable models used to generate adjusted estimates include age, racialization, sexual orientation, region of residence, marital status, knowledge of official language, partial/full insurance for prescription medications, personal income, education and perceived health status

4.4. Discussion and interpretation of results

In this study of how sex/gender interact with immigration groups to shape patterns of access to primary care, I find that there are significant differences between immigration groups across all primary care measures and patterns differ by sex/gender. Overall, a higher percentage of male respondents across all immigration groups were likely to report lower access to primary care including having a regular place of care, usual place for immediate care for minor problem and consultations with a family doctor or general practitioner. Across stages of the Levesque framework, interaction effects of immigration and sex/gender were significant for measures describing how respondents seek primary care services, but not for health care utilization.

Even after adjusting for other explanatory factors, immigration and sex/gender groups still corresponded to pronounced differences in patterns of access to primary care services. Irrespective of immigration group, male respondents across all groups were less likely to have a regular provider because of no need, less likely to have a usual place for immediate care for minor problem, more likely to use a walk-in or emergency room and less likely to have consulted with a family doctor or general practitioner than all females except female recent immigrants. This is consistent with previous research (46,54,101). Observed differences appear to be more pronounced in patterns of how respondents perceive need and desire for care and how they seek primary care. This pattern may speak to the role of gender norms and roles in shaping perception and interpretation of symptoms or sickness among men and women, and resulting health care seeking patterns (60). The higher percentage of male respondents reporting no regular provider because of no need and lower percentage of male respondents reporting a usual place may be linked to performative gender roles and how they impact men's perception and interpretation of illness (60). Previous research also shows that due to gender roles, women show a higher interest and concern with health than men which manifests in increased symptom report and desire for care (56,60), and may subsequently affect utilization of health services (60). However, within our data I cannot distinguish between sex and gender. It is also possible that biological factors including reproductive, metabolic and hormonal characteristics shape morbidity among male and female respondents and (44) and subsequent health care use (60,61).

While there are significant differences in patterns of access to primary care by sex/gender, differences are even more pronounced with recency of immigration. For example, even among males, male recent immigrants have highest odds of reporting no usual place for immediate care and not having a regular provider because of no need, and lowest odds of consulting with a family doctor/general practitioner. Similar patterns are observed comparing recent female immigrants to non-immigrant females. Observed patterns among recent immigrants may be linked to sociocultural factors such as religious and cultural beliefs which are important in the construction of gender norms and conceptions of masculinity (63,106). Other cited reasons for the patterns observed among recent immigrants include competing needs and opportunity costs of seeking health care given that other settlement needs may be prioritized such as employment, education or family settlement (20,77,102). It is possible that these competing needs also differ by sex/gender. The structure and delivery of primary care services may also account for the observed patterns among recent immigrant men and women. For example, whether health care services provide culturally responsive and safe health care including diversity, outreach services and language interpreter services may shape how and whether recent immigrants experience health care as approachable and acceptable. This is evidenced is in the numerous research that cites unmet need among recent immigrants based on how responsive services were to their cultures, language and beliefs (5,8,10,79,107).

Findings underscore significant interactions of immigration and sex/gender in shaping patterns of access to primary care. Particularly, recency of immigration and being male appears to negatively impact patterns of access across most measures. This highlights the need for approachable health services that meet the diverse needs of immigrants, especially male recent immigrants, and the importance of more research that adopts an intersectional lens to help understand experiences of health service use and perception of health among immigrant men. It may be particularly important to understand the initial stages of access and perceived accessibility and approachability of health services for recent immigrant men. Findings may also point to the need for more active outreach programs where health care meets patients including mobile health clinics, screening, and health drives in workplaces. Programs like mobile health clinics are reported to improve access for men as they are shown to attract male patients who make up fifty percent of mobile health clinic clients (108).

66

4.5. Limitations of study

A fundamental limitation of this research is that the CCHS asks respondents if they are male or female, but whether respondents interpret this to mean sex at birth, legal sex, or gender is not clear. Secondary analysis of the sex/gender variable within the CCHS limits the interpretation of results and imposes a cisnormative binary. In addition, possible explanatory variables like "racialization" which may have been important for interpretating research results were limited and not broken down into comprehensive categories in the CCHS public use micro data files. A condensed measure of racialization is used although limited with two only two categories "White or Non-White". Although limited, stratified analysis using this variable was completed and did not alter findings with respect to immigration and sex/gender. Additionally, survey samples may be limited in representation of recent immigrants. Recent immigrants had a lower response rate compared to other immigration groups, which was expected given there might be limiting factors to responding to the survey such as time constraints, language barriers or fear of participating in a national survey. Although survey weights are applied to account for lower response rates from some groups, survey weights do not correct for non-response bias, which could mean gaps in access to care may be even greater than observed in this analysis.

4.6. Conclusion

Findings reveal associations between immigration, sex/gender, and primary care access even after accounting for possible explanatory variables. Findings call into question the approachability and accessibility of primary care services, particularly for recent male immigrants. Remodeling health systems to reflect intersecting needs of immigrant populations is important to mitigate observed effects of immigration on patterns of access to care, especially among recent immigrants.

Chapter 5.

Conclusion

Findings confirm immigration is an important predictor of health services use, including both potential and realized access. Results reveal substantial differences in patterns of access to primary care among immigration groups, and interactions with sex/gender. Recent immigrants differed from long-term immigrants and non-immigrants in relation to perception of need, how and where they seek care, and ultimately utilization of primary care services. Differences were even more marked comparing male recent immigrants to other groups. Long-term immigrants were similar to non-immigrants with respect to perception of need and how and where they seek care, but still differed with respect to utilization of primary care services. This is consistent with previous research that has observed differences in having a regular doctor by immigration group (6,11) as well as qualitative studies that have highlighted unmet need among immigrants due to difficulties accessing needed care (7–10). Findings suggest that research that has not observed differences in use of health services (3–5) may not have been attentive to pathways of access or differences within immigration groups by length of time in Canada.

Important findings and implications

That differences between immigration and sex/gender groups remain even after accounting for possible individual explanatory variables points to gaps in service delivery, and structural factors like xenophobia, racism, and sexism that play out within the context of the health care system. In particular, even when primary care services are publicly funded, accessibility, approachability, and availability of primary care services for immigrant groups are still limited. Results from this study are relevant to informing primary care policy and planning to ensure responsiveness of the Canadian health care system to the diverse and intersecting needs of immigrants. Policies aimed at improving approachability of health care for immigrant communities are needed to bridge gaps in health literacy and knowledge of a new system. Findings suggest walk-in clinics may be more approachable, acceptable, and/or available, and may offer lessons for other models of primary care delivery (109). Remodelling primary care services to respond to diverse cultural and health care needs by making them more approachable and accessible will

help reduce disparities in access to primary care and may ultimately improve health outcomes among Canada's immigrant communities.

Observations reflect significant gaps in developing responsive and approachable care to meet men's unmet health care needs, which has not yet been a topic that has received much research attention in Canada (10,110). Such responsiveness is important to provide easier navigation and may mitigate gendered health seeking patterns among men. Results suggest sex/gender-based differences in seeking and using health care may be shaped by differences in perception of need for care. This includes perception and interpretation of illness and symptoms and readiness to adopt the sick role (12). Differential experiences and perception of symptoms between men and women may be mitigated through health information sharing tailored to immigrant men. Culturally responsive and safe practices are also important to improving accessibility and approachability of health care services among immigrant men who may have diverse and specific cultural needs.

The Levesque framework (12), used to guide this research study is useful for reconceptualization of access and examination of health services use. Particularly, the Levesque, framework is useful in dissecting the impact of immigration on patterns of access and where gender-specific differences arise in accessing health services. The importance of distinguishing potential from realized access enabled by the framework also provides in-depth understanding into the nature of barriers and patterns of access and health services use. Altogether, this has allowed for clear identification of areas of policy intervention and remodelling. While this framework has been useful, more refined measures of access to care matching the framework are needed to comprehensively examine patterns of access.

Limitations

The CCHS sample aims to include respondents who are representative of the Canadian population. However, differential characteristics between populations may limit responses from certain communities more than others. Immigrant communities may experience more barriers to responding to surveys like the CCHS compared to non-immigrants and may be less likely to be represented. The characteristics of people who do not respond to the CCHS have not been studied, but there is evidence of non-response bias on the CCHS (96) Response biases due to language barriers are somewhat mitigated

69

by Statistics Canada hiring interviewers with a range of language competencies where necessary. However, non-response biases may still be present. For example, people who do respond may have more trust in government systems, having time available to complete a survey, or other characteristics that mean they differ from those who do not with respect to outcomes of interest (95). Research should explore this directly, as survey data are used to inform planning decisions. Additionally, due to updates of survey content and questions, certain variables are not included in the later cycle (2017/18), however, cell counts from the 2015/16 were enough to include those variables of interest.

On the CCHS, the variable "sex" is used with two categorical responses: "male" or "female." Whether it is biological sex or gender that is captured when respondents select between these options is not clear. Data pertaining to gender are not collected and we used the variable to capture differences pertaining to both sex and gender. As such, this limits the interpretation of results and imposes a cisnormative binary.

The Levesque framework was helpful in conceptualizing and operationalizing access to identify specific ways patterns of access differed between immigration and sex/gender groups. However, variables from the CCHS were not exactly compatible with the framework. Discretion and previous research were used to align variables to each stage of the framework. However, categorization of variables using the Levesque framework is open to disagreement and fundamentally limited by the fact that questions were not developed with the framework in mind. However, compared to other models of health service use and access the Levesque framework is useful for more carefully conceptualizing and examining access. Variables on the CCHS were also limited as known measures like unmet need captured in previous years of the survey were not included in 2015-2018.

Strengths of Study

While there are limitations to the study as mentioned above, there are key strengths and contributions to health services research concerning immigration and health in Canada. The study particularly tries to resolve the conflicting evidence on patterns of access to care among immigrants through the use of a contemporary and nuanced framework of studying access, as well as attention to differences within immigration groups by length of time in Canada. The conceptual framework used provides for in depth

analysis of patterns of access. Contrary to previous studies that examine access as a measure of initial contact or use of health service as a proxy for access, this study using the Levesque framework examines patterns of access from the initial identification of health care need to actualized utilization of access. By doing so, the study unpacks nuanced differences in patterns of access between immigrants and non-immigrants.

Additionally, the study also examines the interaction of sex/gender and immigration and how it shapes patterns of access which has been a major gap in immigration and health services research. By stratifying immigration groups by sex/gender, specific gendered differences among immigrants are observed.

Directions for future research

Observed patterns of use of walk-in clinics among recent immigrants may help inform ways that other primary care practices can be more approachable, acceptable, and available to immigrants. At the same time, improvements to the quality of care within walkin clinics including language interpreters and culturally safe practices along with assurance of continuity of care may strengthen primary care received by immigrant communities. Future research could explore in greater depth what is working well within the walk-in clinic setting, as well as investigate quality improvement interventions.

Our findings suggest that sex or gender shapes differences in patterns of health care seeking, reaching and utilization and the magnitude of the effect differs between immigrants and non-immigrant as well as between recent and long term-immigrants. Additionally, research that more accurately measures sex and gender will provide for more nuanced and improved examinations of the impact of sex/gender on patterns of access. Planned changes to data collection by Statistics Canada may support future studies in this area (111).

In addition, more carefully conceived data capturing ethnicity and racialization will be important for future research to study patterns of access to health services. Strengthbased data collection through the Canadian Community Survey can be redesigned to capture specific categories beyond the binary categories of "White" or "non-White" available in the public use files. Race-based data will be important to examine patterns of access among recent immigrants as to develop specific responsive measures to mitigate race-related barriers to care.

71

While the survey tries to capture a representative sample of Canada's population, certain groups like immigrants may be underrepresented due to factors such as language barriers, conflicting demands on time, fear of disclosure of information to authorities among others. Such barriers may affect their response rate on the survey compared to non-immigrants which may ultimately lead to non-response biases in studies like this. Future research in this area may use administrative data to address non-response biases.

While quantitative studies document differences by immigration group and sex/gender in patterns of access to primary care, qualitative, and community-based research may provide further insights. Qualitative and community-based research within recent immigrant communities, and men in particular, may help examine more specific experiences of care, and can inform the development of community-centered response strategies in primary care.

To summarize, findings show differences in patterns of access to primary care among immigration groups. Particularly, patterns of access differed among recent immigrants compared to long-term and non-immigrants, especially in early stages of system navigation. While patterns of access for some measures were similar between long-term immigrants and non-immigrants, they were still significantly different when it came to utilization of primary care services. Observed differences across immigration groups suggest that gaps in accessibility, approachability and availability of services create differential access patterns specifically for recent immigrants. Interaction of sex/gender with immigration appears to significantly shape patterns of access to primary care. Particularly, recency of immigration and being male are observed to negatively impact patterns of access including having a regular place of care and a usual place for immediate care for a minor problem as well as consultations with a family doctor or general practitioner. Findings underscore the need for approachable health services planned with an intersectional lens to address the varied primary care needs of people living in Canada.

References

- 1. Barkley S, Starfield B, Shi L, Macinko J. The contribution of primary care to health systems and health. In: Family Medicine: The Classic Papers. 2016. p. 191–239.
- Government of Canada HC. About Primary Health Care Health Canada [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2021 Feb 11]. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/primary-health-care/aboutprimary-health-care.html
- 3. Setia MS, Quesnel-Vallee A, Abrahamowicz M, Tousignant P, Lynch J. Access to health-care in Canadian immigrants: A longitudinal study of the National Population Health Survey. Heal Soc Care Community. 2011;19(1):70–9.
- 4. Laroche M. Health status and health services utilization of Canada's immigrant and non-immigrant populations. Can Public Policy. 2000;26(1):51–75.
- Wu Z, Penning MJ, Christoph M. Schimmele. Immigrant status and unmet health care needs [Internet]. Vol. 96, Canadian Journal of Public Health. 2005. Available from: http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=emed7&NEWS= N&AN=2005464218
- Sanmartin C, Ross N. Experiencing difficulties accessing first-contact health services in Canada. Healthc Policy [Internet]. 2006;1(2):103–119. Available from: http://www.longwoods.com/product.php?productid=17882&cat=412&pa ge=1
- 7. Woodgate RL, Busolo DS, Crockett M, Dean RA, Amaladas MR, Plourde PJ. A qualitative study on African immigrant and refugee families' experiences of accessing primary health care services in Manitoba, Canada: It's not easy! Int J Equity Health [Internet]. 2017;16(1):1–13. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12939-016-0510-x
- 8. Marshall EG, Wong ST, Haggerty JL, Levesque JF. Perceptions of unmet healthcare needs: What do Punjabi and Chinese-speaking immigrants think? A qualitative study. BMC Health Serv Res. 2010;10.
- 9. Kalich A, Heinemann L, Ghahari S. A Scoping Review of Immigrant Experience of Health Care Access Barriers in Canada. Vol. 18, Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health. 2016. p. 697–709.
- Ahmed S, Shommu NS, Rumana N, Gary •, Barron RS, Wicklum S, et al. Barriers to Access of Primary Healthcare by Immigrant Populations in Canada: A Literature Review. J Immigr Minor Heal [Internet]. [cited 2019 Sep 3];18. Available from: https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007%2Fs10903-015-0276-z.pdf

- 11. Degelman ML, Herman KM. Immigrant status and having a regular medical doctor among Canadian adults. Can J Public Heal. 2016;107(1):e75–80.
- 12. Levesque JF, Harris MF, Russell G. Patient-centred access to health care: Conceptualising access at the interface of health systems and populations. Int J Equity Health. 2013;12(1):1–9.
- Statistics Canada. Surveys and statistical programs Canadian Community Health Survey - Annual Component (CCHS) [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2019 Apr 12]. Available from: http://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&SDDS=3226&
- 14. Witzburg RA. Primary Care: Balancing Health Needs, Services, and Technology. Ann Intern Med. 1996;130(10):868.
- 15. Kruk ME, Porignon D, Rockers PC, Van Lerberghe W. The contribution of primary care to health and health systems in low- and middle-income countries: A critical review of major primary care initiatives. Soc Sci Med. 2010;70(6):904–11.
- 16. Shi L, Macinko J, Starfield BH, Politzer R, Wulu J, Xu J. Primary care, social inequalities and all-cause, heart disease and cancer mortality in US counties: a comparison between urban and non-urban areas. Public Health. 2005 Aug;119(8):699–710.
- 17. Muggah E, Dahrouge S, Hogg W. Access to primary health care for immigrants: results of a patient survey conducted in 137 primary care practices in Ontario, Canada. BMC Fam Pract. 2012;13:128.
- Dahrouge S, Hogg W, Ward N, Tuna M, Devlin RA, Kristjansson E, et al. Delivery of primary health care to persons who are socio-economically disadvantaged: Does the organizational delivery model matter? BMC Health Serv Res [Internet]. 2013;13(1):1–12. Available from: BMC Health Services Research
- 19. Vang Z, Sigouin J, Flenon A, Gagnon A. The healthy immigrant effect in Canada: A systematic review [Internet]. Vol. 3, Pclc. 2015. Available from: http://ir.lib.uwo.ca/pclchttp://ir.lib.uwo.ca/pclc/vol3/iss1/4
- Zhao J, Xue L, Gilkinson T. Health Status and Social Capital of Recent Immigrants in Canada [Internet]. Press M-QU, editor. Policy Studies. Montreal and Kingston; 2010.22 p. Availab lefrom: http://publications.gc.ca/site/archiveearchived.html?url=http://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2015/cic/Ci4-139-2010-eng.pdf%5Cnhttp://www.cic.gc.ca/EnGLish/pdf/researchstats/immigrant-survey.pdf
- 21. Subedi RP, Rosenberg MW. Determinants of the variations in self-reported health status among recent and more established immigrants in Canada. Soc Sci Med. 2014;115:103–10.

- 22. Ohle R, Ohle M, Perry JJ. Factors associated with choosing the emergency department as the primary access point to health care: A Canadian population cross-sectional study. Can J Emerg Med. 2017;
- 23. Aery A. Innovations to Champion Access to Primary Care for Immigrants and Refugees [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2020 Mar 30]. Available from: www.wellesleyinstitute.com.
- 24. International Organization for Migration. Glossary on Migration No. 34 [Internet]. Internatioal Migration Law. 2019. Available from: http://medcontent.metapress.com/index/A65RM03P4874243N.pdf%5Cnhttp://ww w.epim.info/wp-content/uploads/2011/01/iom.pdf
- 25. Statistics Canada. Immigrant population in Canada. 2016 Census Popul [Internet]. 2017;1. Available from: http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/11-627-m/11-627-m2017028-eng.htm
- Citizenship and Immigration Canada. 2018 Annual Report To Parliament on Immigration [Internet]. 2018. Available from: http://www.cic.gc.ca/English/resources/publications/annual-report-2015/index.asp
- 27. Castelli F. Drivers of migration: why do people move? J Travel Med. 2018;25(1):1–7.
- 28. United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. Demographic characteristics of international migration [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2020 Mar 18]. Available from: http://unohrlls.org/
- 29. Migration G, Portal D. Global migration indicators 2 0 1 8 [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2018 Dec 1]. Available from: www.iom.int
- United Nations. 2017 International Migration Report [highlights] [Internet]. 2017. Available from: http://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/migration/publications/migrations/migrations/migration/publications/migrations/migrations/migrations/migrations/mi
- Statistics Canada. Social Trends For and About Businesses Serving [Internet].
 2000. Available from: https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/11-008-x/11-008-x2000002-eng.pdf?st=tBIExEFx
- 32. Citizenship and Immigration Canada. 2020 Annual report to parliament on immigration [Internet]. 2020. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/ircc/migration/ircc/english/pdf/pub/annualreport-2020-en.pdf
- 33. Tungohan E. Temporary Foreign Workers in Canada. Soc Leg Stud. 2018;27(2):236–52.

- 34. McAdam J. Global Compact for Safe, Orderly and Regular Migration. Int Leg Mater. 2019;58(1):160–94.
- 35. Gushulak BD, Pottie K, Hatcher Roberts J, Torres S, DesMeules M. Migration and health in Canada: Health in the global village [Internet]. Vol. 183, Cmaj. 2011. Available from: www.statcan.gc.ca
- 36. Aery A, Mckenzie K. Primary care utilization trajectories for immigrants and refugees in Ontario compared with long-term residents [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2020 Mar 30]. Available from: www.wellesleyinstitute.com.
- Quan H, Fong A, De Coster C, Wang J, Musto R, Noseworthy TW, et al. Variation in health services utilization among ethnic populations. Can Med Assoc J [Internet]. 2006;174(6):787–91. Available from: http://www.cmaj.ca/content/174/6/787.short
- 38. Asanin J, Wilson K. 'I spent nine years looking for a doctor': Exploring access to health care among immigrants in Mississauga, Ontario, Canada. Soc Sci Med. 2008;66(6):1271–83.
- Ngwakongnwi E, Hemmelgarn BR, Musto R, Quan H, King-Shier KM. Experiences of French speaking immigrants and non-immigrants accessing health care services in a large Canadian city. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2012;9(10):3755–68.
- 40. Llácer A, Zunzunegui MV, Del Amo J, Mazarrasa L, Bolůmar F. The contribution of a gender perspective to the understanding of migrants' health. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2007;61(SUPPL. 2):4–10.
- 41. Benoit C, Shumka L. Gendering the health determinants Framework: why Girls' and women's health matters. 2009. 39 p.
- 42. Neutens J, Rubinson L. Research Methods in Health Sciences. 2010;4th.
- 43. Johnson JL, Greaves L, Repta R. Better science with sex and gender: Facilitating the use of a sex and gender-based analysis in health research. Int J Equity Health [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2019 Sep 3];8:14. Available from: http://www.equityhealthj.com/content/8/1/14
- 44. Doyal L. Sex, gender, and health: the need for a new approach. BMJ [Internet].
 2001 Nov 3 [cited 2019 Sep 3];323(7320):1061–3. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11691769
- 45. Canadian Institute of Health Research. Definitions of Sex and Gender CIHR [Internet]. [cited 2020 Mar 13]. Available from: https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/47830.html

- 46. Thompson AE, Anisimowicz Y, Miedema B, Hogg W, Wodchis WP, Aubrey-Bassler K. The influence of gender and other patient characteristics on health care-seeking behaviour: a QUALICOPC study. BMC Fam Pract [Internet]. 2016 Mar 31 [cited 2019 Sep 20];17:38. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27036116
- 47. Kazanjian A, Morettin D, Cho R. Health Care Utilization by Canadian Women. BMC Womens Health [Internet]. 2004 Aug 25 [cited 2019 Sep 23];4 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):S33. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15345096
- 48. Andersen RM. Revisiting the Behavioral Model and Access to Medical Care : Does it Matter ? Published by : American Sociological Association Stable URL : https://www.jstor.org/stable/2137284 Revisiting the Behavioral Model and Access to Medical Care : Does It Matter ?*. J Health Soc Behav. 1995;36(1):1–10.
- 49. Levesque JF, Harris MF, Russell G. Patient-centred access to health care: Conceptualising access at the interface of health systems and populations. Int J Equity Health. 2013 Mar;12(1):18.
- 50. Wang L, Hu W. Immigrant health, place effect and regional disparities in Canada. Soc Sci Med. 2013;98:8–17.
- 51. Marie , DesMules. Jenny Gold AK. New Approaches assessing immigrant health copy.pdf. Can J Public Heal [Internet]. 2004;95:122–6. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/BF03403661
- 52. Newbold KB, Danforth J. Health status and Canada's immigrant population. Soc Sci Med. 2003;57(10):1981–95.
- 53. Kim IH, Carrasco C, Muntaner C, McKenzie K, Noh S. Ethnicity and postmigration health trajectory in new immigrants to Canada. Am J Public Health. 2013;103(4).
- 54. Hibbard JH, Pope CR. Gender roles, illness orientation and use of medical services. Soc Sci Med [Internet]. 1983 Jan 1 [cited 2019 Sep 22];17(3):129–37. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0277953683902460
- 55. Kobayashi KM, Prus SG. Examining the gender, ethnicity, and age dimensions of the healthy immigrant effect: Factors in the development of equitable health policy [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2020 Mar 27]. Available from: http://www.equityhealthj.com/content/11/1/8
- 56. Vlassoff C. Gender Differences in Determinants and Consequences of Health and Illness. J Health Popul Nutr [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2020 Mar 30];25(1):47. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3013263/

- 57. Iyer A, Sen G, Östlin P. The intersections of gender and class in health status and health care. Glob Public Health [Internet]. 2008 Apr [cited 2020 Mar 30];3(sup1):13–24. Available from: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/17441690801892174
- Rieker PP, Bird CE. Rethinking Gender Differences in Health: Why We Need to Integrate Social and Biological Perspectives. Journals Gerontol Ser B [Internet].
 2005 Oct 1 [cited 2020 Mar 30];60(Special_Issue_2):S40–7. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/psychsocgerontology/psychsocgerontology/article/296 5171/Rethinking
- Castañeda H, Holmes SM, Madrigal D, Young M-ED, Beyeler N, Quesada J. Immigration as a Social Determinant of Health. Anu Rev Public Heal [Internet]. 2015;26(2015):375–92. Available from: https://www.annualreviews.org/doi/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-032013-182419?url_ver=Z39.88-2003&rfr_id=ori%3Arid%3Acrossref.org&rfr_dat=cr_pub++0pubmed
- 60. Hibbard JH, Pope CR. Gender roles, illness orientation and use of medical services. Soc Sci Med [Internet]. 1983 Jan [cited 2019 Sep 22];17(3):129–37. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/0277953683902460
- 61. Cleary PD, Mechanic D, Greenley JR. Sex Differences in Medical Care Utilization: An Empirical Investigation. J Health Soc Behav [Internet]. 1982 Jun [cited 2019 Sep 22];23(2):106. Available from: http://www.jstor.org/stable/2136508?origin=crossref
- 62. Bryant T, Leaver C, Dunn J. Unmet healthcare need, gender, and health inequalities in Canada. Health Policy (New York). 2009;91(1):24–32.
- 63. Azuh D, Fayomi O, Ajayi, Lady. Socio-Cultural Factors of Gender Roles in Women's Healthcare Utilization in Southwest Nigeria. Open J Soc Sci. 2015;03(04):105–17.
- 64. Courtenay WH. Constructions of masculinity and their influence on men's wellbeing: a theory of gender and health. Soc Sci Med [Internet].
 2000;50:1385±1401. Available from: http://www.postpartummen.com/pdfs/SS&M.PDF
- 65. Brabers AEM, Van Dijk L, Groenewegen PP, De Jong JD. Do social norms play a role in explaining involvement in medical decision-making? Eur J Public Health. 2016;26(6):901–5.
- Amoo EO, Oni GA, Ajayi MP, Idowu AE, Fadayomi TO, Omideyi AK. Are Men's Reproductive Health Problems and Sexual Behavior Predictors of Welfare? Am J Mens Health. 2017;11(3):487–97.

- 67. Ostlin P, Eckermann E, Mishra US, Nkowane M, Wallstam E. Gender and health promotion: a multisectoral policy approach. Health Promot Int. 2006;21 Suppl 1:25–35.
- 68. Linhas R, Oliveira O, Meireles P, Oliveira P, de Melo MB, Lourenço J, et al. Immigrants' access to health care: Problems identified in a high-risk tuberculosis population. Pulmonology. 2018;25(1):32–9.
- 69. Liang Z, Zhou BO. The Effects of Legal Status on Employment and Health Outcomes among Low-Skilled Chinese Immigrants in New York City. 2016 [cited 2020 Mar 30]; Available from: https://journals-sagepubcom.proxy.lib.sfu.ca/doi/pdf/10.1177/0002716216650632
- 70. Shields M. Long working hours and health. Heal reports [Internet]. 1999 [cited 2020 Mar 30];11(2):33-48(Eng); 37-55(Fre). Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10618741
- 71. Ruud SE, Aga R, Natvig B, Hjortdahl P. Use of emergency care services by immigrants-a survey of walk-in patients who attended the Oslo Accident and Emergency Outpatient Clinic. BMC Emerg Med. 2015;15(1):1–14.
- 72. Piomelli Daniele 2013. Emergency Department Service Use among Immigrant and Non-immigrant Groups in the United States. Bone. 2013;23(1):1–7.
- 73. Siddiqi A, Zuberi D, Nguyen QC. The role of health insurance in explaining immigrant versus non-immigrant disparities in access to health care: Comparing the United States to Canada. Soc Sci Med. 2009;69(10):1452–9.
- 74. Sanchez J, Cheff R, Hassen N, Katakia D. Part One: Examining the Health Status & amp; Health Care Experiences of New Permanent Residents in the Three-Month OHIP Wait A Scoping Review of the Peer-Reviewed Literature [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2020 Mar 30]. Available from: www.wellesleyinstitute.com.
- 75. Nabalamba A, Millar WJ. Going to the doctor. Heal reports [Internet]. 2007 Feb [cited 2019 Sep 20];18(1):23–35. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17441441
- 76. Deveugele M, Derese A, van den Brink-Muinen A, Bensing J, De Maeseneer J. Consultation length in general practice: cross sectional study in six European countries. BMJ [Internet]. 2002 Aug 31 [cited 2019 Sep 20];325(7362):472. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12202329
- 77. Higginbottom G, Safipour J. Access to Primary Health Care by New and Established Immigrants in Canada. Vol. 2, Journal of Family Medicine & Community Health. 2015. p. 1–7.

- 78. MacKichan F, Brangan E, Wye L, Checkland K, Lasserson D, Huntley A, et al. Why do patients seek primary medical care in emergency departments? An ethnographic exploration of access to general practice. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2017 Apr 4 [cited 2018 Jul 4];7(4):e013816. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28473509
- 79. Turin TC, Rashid R, Ferdous M, Chowdhury N, Naeem I, Rumana N, et al. Perceived Challenges and Unmet Primary Care Access Needs among Bangladeshi Immigrant Women in Canada. J Prim Care Community Heal [Internet]. 2020;11. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/2150132720952618
- 80. Newbold KB. Health Care Use and the Canadian Immigrant Population. Int J Heal Serv. 2009;
- Hyman I, Gucciardi E, Patychuk D, Rummens JA, Shakya Y, Kljujic D, et al. Selfmanagement, health service use and information seeking for diabetes care among black caribbean immigrants in Toronto. Can J Diabetes [Internet]. 2014;38(1):32–7. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jcjd.2013.08.267
- Wang L, Kwak MJ. Immigration, barriers to healthcare and transnational ties: A case study of South Korean immigrants in Toronto, Canada. Soc Sci Med. 2015;133:340–8.
- Salami B, Mason A, Salma J, Yohani S, Amin M, Okeke-Ihejirika P, et al. Access to healthcare for immigrant children in Canada. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;17(9).
- 84. Couldrey M, Herson M, Editors. Sexual orientation and gender identity protection of forced migrants. Forced Migr Rev. 2013;(42).
- 85. Ayhan CHB, Bilgin H, Uluman OT, Sukut O, Yilmaz S, Buzlu S. A Systematic Review of the Discrimination Against Sexual and Gender Minority in Health Care Settings. Int J Heal Serv. 2020;50(1):44–61.
- 86. Carter-Pokras OD, Offutt-Powell TN, Kaufman JS, Giles WH, Mays VM. Epidemiology, Policy, and Racial/Ethnic Minority Health Disparities. Ann Epidemiol. 2012;22(6):446–55.
- 87. Williams DR, Neighbors HW, Jackson JS. Racial/ethnic discrimination and health: Findings from community studies. Am J Public Health. 2003;93(2):200–8.
- 88. Tegegne MA. Social capital and immigrant integration: the role of social capital in labor market and health outcomes. 2016; Available from: https://iro.uiowa.edu/discovery/fulldisplay/alma9983777129002771/01IOWA_INS T:ResearchRepository
- 89. Lebrun LA. Effects of length of stay and language proficiency on health care experiences among Immigrants in Canada and the United States. Soc Sci Med. 2012;74(7):1062–72.

- Gushulak BD, Macpherson DW. The basic principles of migration health: Population mobility and gaps in disease prevalence. Emerg Themes Epidemiol [Internet]. 2006 [cited 2020 Mar 20];3(3). Available from: http://www.eteonline.com/content/3/1/3
- 91. Neufeld A, Harrison MJ, Stewart MJ, Hughes KD, Spitzer D. Immigrant Women: Making Connections to Community Resources for Support in Family Caregiving. Qual Health Res [Internet]. 2002 Jul 1 [cited 2019 Sep 22];12(6):751–68. Available from: http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/104973230201200603
- 92. Leduc N, Proulx M. Patterns of health services utilization by recent immigrants. J Immigr Health. 2004;6(1):15–27.
- 93. Turin TC, Rashid R, Ferdous M, Naeem I, Rumana N, Rahman A, et al. Perceived barriers and primary care access experiences among immigrant Bangladeshi men in Canada. Fam Med community Heal. 2020;8(4):1–9.
- 94. Waite S, Denier N. A Research Note on Canada's LGBT Data Landscape: Where We Are and What the Future Holds. Can Rev Sociol. 2019;56(1):93–117.
- 95. Etter JF, Perneger T V. Analysis of non-response bias in a mailed health survey. J Clin Epidemiol. 1997;50(10):1123–8.
- 96. Zhao J, Stockwell T, Macdonald S. Non-response bias in alcohol and drug population surveys. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2009;28(6):648–57.
- 97. Chung J, Monroe GS. Exploring Social Desirability Bias. J Bus Ethics. 2003;44(4):291–302.
- 98. Béland Y. Canadian Community Health Survey Methodological Overview [Internet]. Vol. 13. 2002. Available from: https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/catalogue/82-003-X20010036099
- Socias E, Shoveller J, Koehoorn M 1966-. Gender inequalities in access to health care among adults living in British Columbia, Canada. 2016 [cited 2019 Sep 3]; Available from: https://open.library.ubc.ca/clRcle/collections/facultyresearchandpublications/5238 3/items/1.0364130
- 100. Krieger N. Genders, sexes, and health: What are the connections And why does it matter? Int J Epidemiol. 2003 Aug;32(4):652–7.
- Bertakis KD, Azari R, Helms LJ, Callahan EJ, Robbins JA. Gender differences in the utilization of health care services. J Fam Pract [Internet]. 2000 Feb [cited 2019 Feb 3];49(2):147–52. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10718692

- 102. Campbell R. The Experiences of Immigrants Seeking Healthcare in Toronto [Internet]. University of Toronto; 2011. Available from: https://tspace.library.utoronto.ca/bitstream/1807/31411/13/Campbell_Ruth_2011 11_MSc_Thesis.pdf
- 103. Stratton L, Claire L. Barriers for Women in Accessing Primary (Family) Health Care in Nova-Scotia [Internet]. Vol. 21. Mount Saint Vincent University; 2020. Available from: http://dc.msvu.ca:8080/xmlui/bitstream/handle/10587/2139/LillianStrattonMAWG SThesis2020.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- 104. He Y, Dangerfield DT, Fields EL, Dawkins MR, Turpin RE, Johnson D, et al. Health care access, health care utilisation and sexual orientation disclosure among Black sexual minority men in the Deep South. Sex Health. 2020;17(5):421–8.
- 105. Steele LS, Tinmouth JM, Lu A. Regular health care use by lesbians: A path analysis of predictive factors. Fam Pract. 2006;23(6):631–6.
- 106. Daniel-Ulloa J, Sun C, Rhodes SD. The intersection between masculinity and health among rural immigrant Latino men. Int J Mens Health. 2017;16(1):84–95.
- 107. Tuck A, Oda A, Hynie M, Bennett-AbuAyyash C, Roche B, Agic B, et al. Unmet Health Care Needs for Syrian Refugees in Canada: A Follow-up Study. J Immigr Minor Heal. 2019;21(6).
- Yu SWY, Hill C, Ricks ML, Bennet J, Oriol NE. The scope and impact of mobile health clinics in the United States: A literature review. Int J Equity Health. 2017;16(1):1–13.
- 109. Chen CT, Hu J, Chen CE, Mehrotra A. Walk-in clinics versus physician offices and emergency rooms for urgent care and chronic disease management. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015;2015(6).
- 110. Dan Bilsker, Larry Goldenberg, Joyce Davison. A-Roadmap-to-Mens-Health. 2010.
- 111. Statistics Canada. You asked , we listened [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2021 Feb 17]. p. 1–2. Available from: https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/censusrecensement/2021/road2021-chemin2021/fs-fi/sex-and-gender.cfm

Appendix A

Characteristics	Undajused Odds Estimates	Adjusted Odds Estimates
N = 222.949	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Age group (Years)	()	(00000)
18 to 34 vs 35 to 54	0.94 (0.84 - 1.05)	0.94 (0.83 - 1.06)
55 to 74 vs 35 to 54	1.00 (0.88 - 1.08)	0.97 (0.87 - 1.07)
75+ vs 35 to 54	0.82 (0.72 - 0.93)	0.84 (0.74 - 1.00)
Sex		
Male vs Female	2.11 (1.95 - 2.28)	2.09 (1.93 - 2.26)
Racialization		
Non-White vs White	1.07 (0.95 - 1.20)	0.93 (0.82 - 1.05)
Sexual Orientation		
Gay/Bisexual vs Heterosexual	0.91 (0.72 - 1.15)	1.13 (0.90 - 1.28)
Region of residence		
Atlantic Canada (NB, Newfoundland, PEI, NS) vs Ontario	0.96 (0.83 - 1.10)	0.96 (0.84 - 1.10)
Quebec vs Ontario	1.10 (0.98 - 1.22)	1.07 (0.96 - 1.19)
The Prairies (Manitoba, Alberta, Saskatchewan) vs Ontario	1.07 (0.96 - 1.19)	1.04 (0.94 - 1.16)
The Territories vs Ontario	0.97 (0.86 - 1.10)	0.97 (0.86 - 1.10)
British Columbia vs Ontario	0.96 (0.76 - 1.22)	0.94 (0.73 - 1.22)
Marital status		
Widowed/Separated/divorced/Single vs Married/common-law	0.97 (0.90 - 1.05)	1.00 (0.92 - 1.10)
Knowledge of official language		
Neither English nor French vs English/French	0.80 (0.52 - 1.24)	0.95 (0.60 - 1.48)
Insurance-prescription medications-all/part		
No vs Yes	0.88 (0.78 - 1.00)	0.89 (0.82 - 0.96)
Personal income		
\$40k to \$79k vs Less than \$39k	1.21 (1.10 - 1.34)	1.10 (0.98 - 1.19)
\$80k+vs Less than \$39k	1.24 (1.10 - 1.39)	1.02 (0.90 - 1.17)
Education Level		
Less than Secondary vs Post-Secondary	1.09 (1.00 - 1.20)	1.08 (0.96 - 1.21)
Secondary vs Post- Secondary	1.00 (0.91 - 1.10)	1.02 (0.92 - 1.11)
Perceived health status		
Excellent vs Very Good	1.08 (0.98 - 1.20)	1.07 (0.97 - 1.19)
Good vs Very Good	0.97 (0.88 - 1.06)	0.97 (0.88 - 1.06)
Fair vs Very Good	0.91 (0.79 - 1.05)	0.93 (0.80 - 1.08)
Poor vs Very Good	1.28 (1.01 - 1.64)	1.32 (1.03 - 1.69)

Table A.1.Unadjusted (univariable) and adjusted (multivariable) odds ratios and
95% CI for "no regular provider because of no need"

Characteristics	Undajused Odds Estimates	Adjusted Odds Estimates
N = 222,949	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Age group (Years)		
18 to 34 vs 35 to 54	1.02 (0.96 - 1.09)	1.02 (0.96 - 1.09)
55 to 74 vs 35 to 54	1.00 (0.95 - 1.06)	1.01 (0.96 - 1.07)
75+ vs 35 to 54	1.06 (0.98 - 1.14)	1.04 (0.95 - 1.12)
Sex		
Male vs Female	0.56 (0.53 - 0.58)	0.55 (0.53 - 0.58)
Racialization		
Non-White vs White	1.07 (1.00 - 1.15)	1.09 (1.01 - 1.17)
Sexual orientation		
Gay/Bisexual vs Heterosexual	1.01 (0.88 - 1.15)	0.98 (0.86 - 1.12)
Region of residence		
Atlantic Canada (NB, Newfoundland, PEI, NS) vs Ontario	1.02 (0.95 - 1.10)	1.02 (0.95 - 1.10)
Quebec vs Ontario	0.96 (0.90 - 1.02)	0.98 (0.92 - 1.04)
The Prairies (Manitoba, Alberta, Saskatchewan) vs Ontario	0.97 (0.91 - 1.03)	0.99 (0.93 - 1.05)
The Territories vs Ontario	0.97 (0.91 - 1.05)	0.97 (0.91 - 1.04)
British Columbia vs Ontario	1.01 (0.88 - 1.16)	1.00 (0.86 - 1.16)
Marital status		
Widowed/Separated/divorced/Single vs Married/common-law	1.03 (0.99 - 1.08)	1.00 (0.96 - 1.05)
Knowledge of official language		
Neither English nor French vs English/French	1.03 (0.76 - 1.40)	0.91 (0.67 - 1.25)
Insurance-prescription medications-all/part		
No vs Yes	1.05 (0.98 - 1.13)	1.06 (0.98 - 1.14)
Personal Income		
\$40k to \$79k vs Less than \$39k	0.89 (0.85 - 0.94)	0.98 (0.93 - 1.03)
\$80k+ vs Less than \$39k	0.87 (0.82 - 0.93)	1.02 (0.95 - 1.09)
Education Level		
Less than Secondary vs Post-Secondary	0.96 (0.91 - 1.02)	0.98 (0.91 - 1.05)
Secondary vs Post- Secondary	1.01 (0.96 - 1.06)	1.00 (0.95 - 1.06)
Perceived health status		
Excellent vs Very Good	0.98 (0.92 - 1.03)	0.98 (0.92 - 1.04)
Good vs Very Good	1.04 (0.98 - 1.09)	1.04 (0.99 - 1.10)
Fair vs Very Good	1.02 (0.94 - 1.10)	1.01 (0.93 - 1.09)
Poor vs Very Good	0.92 (0.82 - 1.04)	0.92 (0.81 - 1.03)

Table A.2.Unadjusted (univariable) and adjusted (multivariable) odds ratios and
95% CI for "has a regular provider"

Characteristics	Undajused Odds Estimates	Adjusted Odds Estimates
<i>N</i> = 222,949	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Age group (Years)		
18 to 34 vs 35 to 54	0.97 (0.86 - 1.08)	0.95 (0.84 - 1.08)
55 to 74 vs 35 to 54	0.96 (0.87 - 1.05)	0.95 (0.85 - 1.05)
75+ vs 35 to 54	0.99 (0.84 - 1.12)	1.02 (0.87 - 1.20)
Sex		
Male vs Female	2.51 (2.31-2.72)	2.57 (2.36 - 2.78)
Racialization		
Non-White vs White	0.93 (0.82 -1.07)	0.91 (0.79 - 1.05)
Sexual orientation		
Gay/Bisexual vs Heterosexual	0.94 (0.75 -1.18)	0.96 (0.76 - 1.21)
Region of residence		
Atlantic Canada (NB, Newfoundland, PEI, NS) vs Ontario	0.99 (0.87 - 1.13)	1.00 (0.87 - 1.14)
Quebec vs Ontario	1.07 (0.96 - 1.19)	1.04 (0.94 - 1.16)
The Prairies (Manitoba, Alberta, Saskatchewan) vs Ontario	1.09 (0.98 - 1.21)	1.07 (0.97 - 1.20)
The Territories vs Ontario	1.12 (0.98 - 1.28)	1.11 (0.98 - 1.27)
British Columbia vs Ontario	1.02 (0.78 - 1.32)	1.04 (0.80 - 1.37)
Marital status		
Widowed/Separated/divorced/Single vs Married/common-law	1.03 (0.95 - 1.11)	1.04 (0.95 - 1.13)
Knowledge of official language		
Neither English nor French vs English/French	0.88 (0.53 - 1.48)	1.03 (0.60 - 1.76)
Insurance-prescription medications-all/part		
No vs Yes	0.95 (0.84 - 1.09)	0.93 (0.81 - 1.06)
Personal income		
\$40k to \$79k vs Less than \$39k	1.13 (1.03 - 1.24)	1.00 (0.90 - 1.09)
\$80k+ vs Less than \$39k	1.20 (1.07 - 1.36)	0.96 (0.84 - 1.09)
Education level		
Less than Secondary vs Post-Secondary	0.98 (0.89 - 1.08)	0.94 (0.82 - 1.07)
Secondary vs Post- Secondary	1.01 (0.92 - 1.11)	1.00 (0.90 - 1.10)
Perceived health status		
Excellent vs Very Good	1.06 (1.00 - 1.17)	1.06 (0.95 - 1.17)
Good vs Very Good	0.98 (0.89 - 1.01)	0.97 (0.88 - 1.07)
Fair vs Very Good	1.06 (0.91 - 1.22)	1.06 (0.90 - 1.23)
Poor vs Very Good	1.22 (1.00 - 1.49)	1.23 (1.00 - 1.85)

Table A.3.Unadjusted (univariable) and adjusted (multivariable) odds ratios and
95% CI for "no regular provider because didn't try to find to one"

Characteristics	Undajused Odds Estimates	Adjusted Odds Estimates
<i>N</i> = 222,949	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Age group (Years)		
18 to 34 vs 35 to 54	1.03 (0.96 - 1.11)	1.03 (0.96 - 1.11)
55 to 74 vs 35 to 54	1.06 (1.00 - 1.13)	1.05 (0.99 - 1.12)
75+ vs 35 to 54	1.11 (1.01 - 1.22)	1.06 (0.97 - 1.17)
Sex		
Male vs Female	0.60 (0.57 -0.63)	0.60 (0.57 - 0.63)
Racialization		
Non-White vs White	0.98 (0.91 - 1.07)	1.01 (0.93 - 1.10)
Sexual orientation		
Gay/Bisexual vs Heterosexual	1.02 (0.89 - 1.17)	1.00 (0.87 - 1.16)
Region of residence		
Atlantic Canada (NB, Newfoundland, PEI, NS) vs Ontario	1.02 (0.94 - 1.11)	1.00 (0.92 - 1.09)
Quebec vs Ontario	1.00 (0.94 - 1.07)	1.01 (0.95 - 1.08)
The Prairies (Manitoba, Alberta, Saskatchewan) vs Ontario	1.03 (0.96 - 1.10)	1.03 (0.96 - 1.11)
The Territories vs Ontario	1.10 (1.01 - 1.20)	1.11 (1.02 - 1.20)
British Columbia vs Ontario	1.08 (0.90 - 1.29)	1.07 (0.89 - 1.29)
Marital status		
Widowed/Separated/divorced/Single vs Married/common-law	1.03 (1.00 - 1.08)	0.98 (0.93 - 1.03)
Knowledge of official language		
Neither English nor French vs English/French	0.73 (0.51 - 1.05)	0.65 (0.45 - 0.94)
Insurance-prescription medications-all/part		
No vs Yes	1.01 (0.93 - 1.10)	1.01 (0.93 - 1.10)
Personal income		
\$40k to \$79k vs Less than \$39k	0.91 (0.90 - 0.96)	0.99 (0.93 - 1.05)
\$80k+ vs Less than \$39k	0.90 (0.79 - 0.92)	0.99 (0.91 - 1.07)
Education level		
Less than Secondary vs Post-Secondary	1.09 (1.03 - 1.16)	1.09 (1.01 - 1.18)
Secondary vs Post- Secondary	1.06 (1.00 - 1.12)	1.05 (1.00 - 1.12)
Perceived health status		
Excellent vs Very Good	0.97 (0.90 - 1.03)	0.97 (0.91 - 1.03)
Good vs Very Good	1.03 (0.97 - 1.09)	1.03 (0.97 - 1.03)
Fair vs Very Good	0.98 (0.90 - 1.07)	0.96 (0.88 - 1.05)
Poor vs Very Good	1.00 (0.87 - 1.12)	0.97 (0.85 - 1.11)

Table A.4.Unadjusted (univariable) and adjusted (multivariable) odds ratios and
95% CI for "has a usual place for immediate care for minor problem"

Characteristics	Undajused Odds Estimates	Adjusted Odds Estimates
N = 222,949	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Age group (Years)		
18 to 34 vs 35 to 54	1.00 (0.96 – 1.06)	1.00 (0.95 – 1.05)
55 to 74 vs 35 to 54	1.01 (0.97 – 1.05)	1.00 (0.96 – 1.05)
75+ vs 35 to 54	1.01 (0.95 – 1.07)	1.02 (0.96 – 1.01)
Sex		
Male vs Female	1.27 (1.23 – 1.31)	1.28 (1.23 – 1.32)
Racialization		
Non-White vs White	0.98 (0.93 – 1.03)	0.97 (0.92 – 1.02)
Sexual orientation		
Gay/Bisexual vs Heterosexual	0.95 (0.86 – 1.05)	0.95 (0.90 – 1.06)
Region of residence		
Atlantic Canada (NB, Newfoundland, PEI, NS) vs Ontario	1.00 (0.93 - 1.02)	1.00 (0.94 – 1.06)
Quebec vs Ontario	0.98 (0.93 – 1.02)	0.98 (0.93 – 1.02)
The Prairies (Manitoba, Alberta, Saskatchewan) vs Ontario	1.03 (0.98 – 1.08)	1.02 (0.98 – 1.07)
The Territories vs Ontario	1.05 (1.00 – 1.11)	1.05 (1.00 – 1.11)
British Columbia vs Ontario	1.04 (0.93 – 1.17)	1.00 (0.90 – 1.14)
Marital status		
Widowed/Separated/divorced/Single vs Married/common-law	1.00 (0.97 – 1.03)	1.00 (0.97 – 1.05)
Knowledge of official language		
Neither English nor French vs English/French	0.94 (0.75 – 1.18)	0.97 (0.76 – 1.23)
Insurance-prescription medications-all/part		
No vs Yes	0.93 (1.35 – 1.61)	0.92 (0.86 - 0.98)
Personal income		
\$40k to \$79k vs Less than \$39k	1.02 (0.98 – 1.06)	0.98 (0.94 – 1.02)
\$80k+ vs Less than \$39k	1.05 (1.00 – 1.10)	0.99 (0.93 – 1.04)
Education level		
Less than Secondary vs Post-Secondary	1.02 (0.98 – 1.07)	0.98 (0.93 – 1.03)
Secondary vs Post- Secondary	1.06 (1.01 – 1.10)	1.05 (1.00 – 1.10)
Perceived health status		
Excellent vs Very Good	1.00 (0.95 – 1.04)	1.00 (0.95 – 1.04)
Good vs Very Good	1.00 (0.97 – 1.05)	1.01 (0.97 – 1.05)
Fair vs Very Good	1.02 (0.91 – 1.09)	1.02 (0.96 – 1.09)
Poor vs Very Good	0.69 (0.47 – 1.00)	0.99 (0.90 – 1.08)

Table A.5. Unadjusted (univariable) and adjusted (multivariable) odds ratios and 95% CI for "walk-in clinic/ER for usual place for immediate care for minor problem"

Characteristics	Undajused Odds Estimates	Adjusted Odds Estimates
<i>N</i> = 222,949	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Age group (Years)	<u>.</u>	
18 to 34 vs 35 to 54	0.97 (0.87 – 1.07)	0.99 (0.88 – 1.10)
55 to 74 vs 35 to 54	0.97 (0.90 – 1.07)	0.99 (0.90 – 1.08)
75+ vs 35 to 54	1.05 (0.93 – 1.19)	1.08 (0.95 – 1.24)
Sex		
Male vs Female	0.87 (0.81 – 0.93)	0.87 (0.80 – 0.93)
Racialization		
Non-White vs White	1.11 (0.98 – 1.25)	1.13 (1.00 – 1.23)
Sexual orientation		
Gay/Bisexual vs Heterosexual	0.01 (0.13 – 0.16)	0.99 (0.80 – 1.22)
Region of residence		
Atlantic Canada (NB, Newfoundland, PEI, NS) vs Ontario	1.06 (0.94 – 1.19)	1.08 (0.96 – 1.22)
Quebec vs Ontario	0.98 (0.88 – 1.09)	0.99 (0.90 – 1.10)
The Prairies (Manitoba, Alberta, Saskatchewan) vs Ontario	1.00 (0.91 – 1.11)	1.01 (0.91 – 1.11)
The Territories vs Ontario	1.00 (0.90 – 1.13)	0.98 (0.87 – 1.11)
British Columbia vs Ontario	0.98 (0.79 – 1.22)	1.02 (0.81 – 1.23)
Marital status		
Widowed/Separated/divorced/Single vs Married/common-law	0.99 (0.92 – 1.06)	1.02 (0.94 – 1.10)
Knowledge of official language		
Neither English nor French vs English/French	1.27 (0.64 – 2.52)	1.25 (0.64 – 2.45)
Insurance-prescription medications-all/part		
No vs Yes	1.01 (0.92 – 1.11)	1.02 (0.92 – 1.12)
Personal income		
\$40k to \$79k vs Less than \$39k	1.06 (0.97 – 1.16)	1.10 (1.00 – 1.21)
\$80k+ vs Less than \$39k	1.08 (0.96 – 1.20)	1.14 (1.01 – 1.29)
Education level		
Less than Secondary vs Post-Secondary	1.02 (0.93 – 1.11)	1.05 (0.94 – 1.18)
Secondary vs Post- Secondary	1.02 (0.93 – 1.12)	1.04 (0.95 – 1.15)
Perceived health status		
Excellent vs Very Good	1.02 (0.92 – 1.12)	1.02 (0.92 – 1.12)
Good vs Very Good	1.07 (0.98 – 1.17)	1.07 (0.98 – 1.18)
Fair vs Very Good	0.95 (0.84 – 1.08)	0.96 (0.84 – 1.09)
Poor vs Very Good	0.92 (0.75 – 1.14)	0.94 (0.77 – 1.16)

Table A.6.Unadjusted (univariable) and adjusted (multivariable) odds ratios and
95% CI for "team-based care for usual place for immediate care"

Characteristics	Undajused Odds Estimates	Adjusted Odds Estimates
N = 222,949	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Age group (Years)		<u> </u>
18 to 34 vs 35 to 54	1.04 (0.91 – 1.19)	1.03 (0.90 – 1.18)
55 to 74 vs 35 to 54	1.00 (0.89 – 1.11)	1.01 (0.90 – 1.14)
75+ vs 35 to 54	1.03 (0.84 – 1.25)	1.06 (0.90 – 1.23)
Sex		
Male vs Female	0.93 (0.85 – 1.02)	0.92 (0.83 – 1.01)
Racialization		
Non-White vs White	1.06 (0.91 – 1.24)	1.05 (0.90 – 1.23)
Sexual orientation		
Gay/Bisexual vs Heterosexual	1.06 (0.81 – 1.38)	1.05 (0.80 – 1.37)
Region of residence		
Atlantic Canada (NB, Newfoundland, PEI, NS) vs Ontario	1.02 (0.87 – 1.19)	1.02 (0.87 – 1.20)
Quebec vs Ontario	0.97 (0.85 – 1.01)	0.97 (0.85 – 1.11)
The Prairies (Manitoba, Alberta, Saskatchewan) vs Ontario	0.97 (0.86 – 1.11)	0.98 (0.86 – 1.12)
The Territories vs Ontario	1.00 (0.85 – 1.16)	0.98 (0.85 – 1.14)
British Columbia vs Ontario	1.01 (0.76 – 1.33)	1.00 (0.75 – 1.34)
Marital status		
Widowed/Separated/divorced/Single vs Married/common-law	0.94 (0.86 – 1.03)	1.07 (0.96 – 1.18)
Knowledge of official language		
Neither English nor French vs English/French	1.59 (0.86 – 2.95))	1.58 (0.83 – 3.00)
Insurance-prescription medications-all/part		
No vs Yes	0.95 (0.84 – 1.07)	0.95 (0.84 – 1.08)
Personal income		
\$40k to \$79k vs Less than \$39k	0.96 (0.86 – 1.07)	0.96 (0.86 – 1.08)
\$80k+ vs Less than \$39k	0.99 (0.86 – 1.13)	1.00 (0.86 – 1.16)
Education level		
Less than Secondary vs Post-Secondary	0.93 (0.83 – 1.05)	0.90 (0.78 – 1.03)
Secondary vs Post- Secondary	0.93 (0.82 – 1.04)	1.08 (0.76 – 1.56)
Perceived health status		
Excellent vs Very Good	0.99 (0.86 – 1.11)	0.98 (0.86 – 1.11)
Good vs Very Good	1.00 (0.89 – 1.12)	1.00 (0.90 – 1.12)
Fair vs Very Good	0.95 (0.81 – 1.12)	0.94 (0.80 – 1.11)
Poor vs Very Good	1.06 (0.84 – 1.33)	1.05 (0.83 – 1.33)

Table A.7.Unadjusted (univariable) and adjusted (multivariable) odds ratios and
95% CI for last visit to Hospital Emergency room for condition
treatable at regular primary care provider

	Undaiused Odds	Adjusted Odds
Characteristics	Estimates	Estimates
<i>N</i> = 222,949	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Age group (Years)		
18 to 34 vs 35 to 54	1.01 (0.96 – 1.07)	1.00 (0.96 – 1.06)
55 to 74 vs 35 to 54	0.99 (0.94 – 1.03)	0.99 (0.95 – 1.04)
75+ vs 35 to 54	1.02 (0.96 – 1.09)	1.02 (0.96 – 1.09)
Sex		
Male vs Female	1.06 (1.02 – 1.10)	1.06 (1.02 – 1.09)
Racialization		
Non-White vs White	1.04 (0.98 – 1.10)	1.04 (0.98 – 1.10)
Sexual orientation		
Gay/Bisexual vs Heterosexual	1.06 (0.95 – 1.18)	1.07 (0.96 – 1.19)
Region of residence		
Atlantic Canada (NB, Newfoundland, PEI, NS) vs Ontario	1.05 (0.99 – 1.12)	1.06 (1.00 – 1.12)
Quebec vs Ontario	1.00 (0.96 – 1.05)	1.00 (0.96 – 1.05)
The Prairies (Manitoba, Alberta, Saskatchewan) vs Ontario	1.05 (1.00 – 1.11)	1.05 (1.00 – 1.10)
The Territories vs Ontario	1.09 (1.03 – 1.16)	1.09 (1.03 – 1.16)
British Columbia vs Ontario	0.96 (0.86 – 1.08)	0.95 (0.84 – 1.07)
Marital status		
Widowed/Separated/divorced/Single vs Married/common-law	1.01 (0.97 – 1.04)	1.00 (0.97 – 1.04)
Knowledge of official language		
Neither English nor French vs English/French	0.96 (0.75 – 1.23)	0.91 (0.71 – 1.17)
Insurance-prescription medications-all/part		
No vs Yes	1.02 (0.96 – 1.09)	1.00 (0.94 – 1.07)
Personal income		
\$40k to \$79k vs Less than \$39k	0.96 (0.92 – 1.00)	0.96 (0.91 – 1.00)
\$80k+ vs Less than \$39k	1.04 (0.99 – 1.10)	1.04 (0.98 – 1.10)
Education level		
Less than Secondary vs Post-Secondary	1.00 (0.96 – 1.04)	1.03 (0.97 – 1.09)
Secondary vs Post- Secondary	1.00 (0.96 – 1.05)	1.00 (0.96 – 1.05)
Perceived health status		
Excellent vs Very Good	1.04 (1.00 – 1.09)	1.04 (0.99 – 1.09)
Good vs Very Good	1.05 (1.01 – 1.10)	1.05 (1.00 – 1.09)
Fair vs Very Good	1.03 (0.96 – 1.09)	1.01 (0.95 – 1.07)
Poor vs Very Good	0.98 (0.89 – 1.07)	0.96 (0.87 – 1.06)

Table A.8.Unadjusted (univariable) and adjusted (multivariable) odds ratios and
95% CI for same/next day appointment for immediate care for minor
problem

Characteristics	Undajused Odds Estimates	Adjusted Odds Estimates
<i>N</i> = 222,949	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Age group (Years)		
18 to 34 vs 35 to 54	1.04 (0.95 -1.13)	1.03 (0.94 – 1.13)
55 to 74 vs 35 to 54	1.00 (0.93 -1.08)	0.99 (0.94 – 1.13)
75+ vs 35 to 54	1.04 (0.94-1.16)	1.02 (0.91 – 1.15)
Sex		
Male vs Female	0.98 (0.92 -1.03)	0.98 (0.92 – 1.05)
Racialization		
Non-White vs White	0.98 (0.89 -1.08)	0.99 (0.90 – 1.09)
Sexual orientation		
Gay/Bisexual vs Heterosexual	0.94 (0.78 -1.13)	0.93 (0.77 – 1.12)
Region of residence		
Atlantic Canada (NB, Newfoundland, PEI, NS) vs Ontario	1.03 (0.93 -1.14)	1.01 (0.92 – 1.13)
Quebec vs Ontario	0.99 (0.91 -1.07)	0.98 (0.90 – 1.07)
The Prairies (Manitoba, Alberta, Saskatchewan) vs Ontario	1.01 (0.92 -1.09)	1.00 (0.92 – 1.09)
The Territories vs Ontario	0.99 (0.89 -1.09)	0.90 (0.90 – 1.09)
British Columbia vs Ontario	1.10 (0.91 -1.32)	1.09 (0.90 – 1.33)
Marital status		
Widowed/Separated/divorced/Single vs Married/common-law	1.00 (0.94 -1.06)	0.98 (0.92 – 1.05)
Knowledge of official language		
Neither English nor French vs English/French	0.82 (0.53 -1.29)	0.82 (0.52 – 1.29)
Insurance-prescription medications-all/part		
No vs Yes	1.03 (0.96 -1.12)	1.03 (0.95- 1.11)
Personal income		
\$40k to \$79k vs Less than \$39k	0.98 (0.91-1.05)	0.98 (0.91 – 1.07)
\$80k+ vs Less than \$39k	0.93 (0.85 -1.02)	0.95 (0.86 – 1.05)
Education level		
Less than Secondary vs Post-Secondary	1.06 (0.99 -1.15)	1.06 (0.97 – 1.17)
Secondary vs Post- Secondary	1.08 (1.00 –1.17)	1.07 (1.00 – 1.16)
Perceived health status		
Excellent vs Very Good	0.97 (0.89 -1.05)	0.97 (0.90 – 1.05)
Good vs Very Good	0.98 (0.91 -1.05)	0.97 (0.90 – 1.05)
Fair vs Very Good	0.98 (0.88 -1.09)	0.96 (0.86 – 1.08)
Poor vs Very Good	0.90 (0.78 -1.06)	0.89 (0.76 – 1.04)

Table A.9.Unadjusted (univariable) and adjusted (multivariable) odds ratios and
95% CI for "used a hospital emergency room in past 12 months"

	Undajused Odds	Adjusted Odds
Characteristics	Estimates	Estimates
N = 222,949	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Age group (Years)		
18 to 34 vs 35 to 54	1.04 (0.94 -1.15)	1.06 (0.95 -1.17)
55 to 74 vs 35 to 54	1.02 (0.93 -1.11)	1.01 (0.92 -1.10)
75+ vs 35 to 54	1.11 (0.99 -1.24) -	1.08 (0.95 -1.22)
Sex		
Male vs Female	0.67 (0.63 -0.72)	0.68 (0.63 - 0.73)
Racialization		
Non-White vs White	0.87 (0.77 -0.98)	0.87 (0.77 - 0.98)
Sexual orientation		
Gay/Bisexual vs Heterosexual	1.12 (0.92 - 1.36)	1.12 (0.92 - 1.37)
Region of residence		
Atlantic Canada (NB, Newfoundland, PEI, NS) vs Ontario	1.08 (1.00 - 1.21)	1.06 (0.95 - 1.18)
Quebec vs Ontario	0.98 (0.89 - 1.08)	0.98 (0.89 - 1.08)
The Prairies (Manitoba, Alberta, Saskatchewan) vs Ontario	1.01 (0.92 - 1.11)	1.02 (0.93 -1.12)
The Territories vs Ontario	0.96 (0.85 - 1.08)	0.97 (0.86 -1.09)
British Columbia vs Ontario	1.07 (0.88 - 1.30)	1.14 (0.94 -1.40)
Marital status		
Widowed/Separated/divorced/Single vs Married/common-law	1.02 (0.96 - 1.10)	0.94 (0.88 - 1.01)
Knowledge of official language		
Neither English nor French vs English/French	1.16 (0.72 - 1.87)	1.23 (0.76 - 2.01)
Insurance-prescription medications-all/part		
No vs Yes	1.00 (0.91 - 1.09)	1.02 (0.93 - 1.12)
Personal income		
\$40k to \$79k vs Less than \$39k	0.94 (0.87 - 1.03)	0.99 (0.91 - 1.09)
\$80k+ vs Less than \$39k	0.86 (0.77 - 0.95)	0.94 (0.83 - 1.05)
Education Level		
Less than Secondary vs Post-Secondary	0.95 (0.88 - 1.04)	0.93 (0.83 - 1.03)
Secondary vs Post- Secondary	0.93 (0.86 - 1.01)	0.92 (0.85 - 1.00)
Perceived health status		
Excellent vs Very Good	1.01 (0.92 - 1.12)	1.02 (0.93 - 1.11)
Good vs Very Good	1.01 (0.93 - 1.10)	1.02 (0.94 - 1.11)
Fair vs Very Good	1.05 (0.94 - 1.18)	1.06 (0.94 - 1.20)
Poor vs Very Good	1.17 (0.98 - 1.39)	1.20 (0.99 - 1.43)

Table A.10.Unadjusted (univariable) and adjusted (multivariable) odds ratios and
95% CI for "for consulted with nurse in past 12 months"

	Undajused Odds	Adjusted Odds
Characteristics	Estimates	Estimates
<i>N</i> = 222,949	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Age group (Years)		
18 to 34 vs 35 to 54	0.99 (0.92 - 1.06)	1.00 (0.93 - 1.07)
55 to 74 vs 35 to 54	0.97 (0.91 - 1.03)	0.97 (0.91 - 1.03)
75+ vs 35 to 54	0.99 (0.91 - 1.08)	0.96 (0.87 - 1.05)
Sex		
Male vs Female	0.58 (0.56 - 0.61)	0.58 (0.55 - 0.61)
Racialization		
Non-White vs White	0.97 (0.90 -1.05)	0.95 (0.88 - 1.03)
Sexual orientation		
Gay/Bisexual vs Heterosexual	0.94 (0.81 -1.09)	0.92 (0.80 - 1.07)
Region of residence		
Atlantic Canada (NB, Newfoundland, PEI, NS) vs Ontario	1.00 (0.92 - 1.09)	0.99 (0.91 - 1.08)
Quebec vs Ontario	0.92 (0.86 - 0.98)	0.93 (0.86 - 0.99)
The Prairies (Manitoba, Alberta, Saskatchewan) vs Ontario	0.96 (0.90 - 1.03)	0.97 (0.91 - 1.04)
The Territories vs Ontario	0.96 (0.88 - 1.04)	0.96 (0.89 - 1.04)
British Columbia vs Ontario	0.99 (0.84 - 1.17)	1.03 (0.87 - 1.23)
Marital status		
Widowed/Separated/divorced/Single vs Married/common-law	0.98 (0.93 - 1.03)	0.98 (0.93 - 1.04)
Knowledge of official language		
Neither English nor French vs English/French	1.20 (0.88 - 1.63)	1.02 (0.95 - 1.09)
Insurance-prescription medications-all/part		
No vs Yes	1.00 (0.94 -1.06)	1.02 (0.95 - 1.09)
Personal income		
\$40k to \$79k vs Less than \$39k	0.94 (0.75 - 0.88)	1.01 (0.95 - 1.07)
\$80k+ vs Less than \$39k	0.88 (0.81 - 0.94)	0.98 (0.90 - 1.06)
Education level		
Less than Secondary vs Post-Secondary	0.97 (0.91 - 1.02)	0.92 (0.86 - 1.00)
Secondary vs Post- Secondary	0.98 (0.92 - 1.04)	0.98 (0.92 - 1.04)
Perceived health status		
Excellent vs Very Good	0.98 (0.92 - 1.05)	0.98 (0.92 - 1.04)
Good vs Very Good	0.99 (0.94 - 1.05)	1.01 (0.95 - 1.07)
Fair vs Very Good	0.99 (0.91 - 1.08)	1.01 (0.92 - 1.11)
Poor vs Very Good	1.01 (0.89 - 1.15)	1.04 (0.91 - 1.19)

Table A.11.Unadjusted (univariable) and adjusted (multivariable) odds ratios and
95% CI for "consulted with a family doctor or general practitioner past
12 months"

Appendix B

Table B.1.	Unadjusted (univariable) and adjusted (multivariable) odds ratios and
	95% CI for "no regular provider because of no need"

Characteristics	Undajused Odds Estimates	Adjusted Odds Estimates
N = 222.949	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Age group (Years)	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
18 to 34 vs 35 to 54	0.93 (0.83 - 1.04)	0.94 (0.83 - 1.06)
55 to 74 vs 35 to 54	0.98 (0.88 - 1.08)	0.97 (0.87 - 1.07)
75+ vs 35 to 54	0.86 (0.76 - 0.97)	0.85 (0.74 - 1.00)
Racialization		
Non-White vs White	0.92 (0.82 - 1.04)	0.93 (0.82 - 1.05)
Sexual orientation		
Gay/Bisexual vs Heterosexual	1.12 (0.89 - 1.42)	1.13 (0.89 - 1.43)
Region of residence		
Atlantic Canada (NB, Newfoundland, PEI, NS) vs Ontario	0.97 (0.84 - 1.11)	0.96 (0.84 - 1.10)
Quebec vs Ontario	1.08 (0.97 - 1.21)	1.07 (0.96 - 1.19)
The Prairies (Manitoba, Alberta, Saskatchewan) vs Ontario	1.05 (0.95 - 1.17)	1.04 (0.94 - 1.16)
The Territories vs Ontario	0.96 (0.85 - 1.08)	0.97 (0.86 - 1.10)
British Columbia vs Ontario	0.93 (0.73 - 1.18)	0.94 (0.73 - 1.22)
Marital status		
Widowed/Separated/divorced/Single vs Married/common-law	1.01 (0.94 - 1.09)	1.00 (0.92 - 1.09)
Knowledge of official language		
Neither English nor French vs English/French	0.87 (0.56 - 1.35)	0.94 (0.60 - 1.48)
Insurance-prescription medications-all/part		
No vs Yes	0.87 (0.76 - 0.98)	0.89 (0.78 - 1.01)
Personal income		
\$40k to \$79k vs Less than \$39k	1.10 (1.00 - 1.21)	1.08 (0.98 - 1.19)
\$80k+ vs Less than \$39k	1.05 (0.93 - 1.18)	1.02 (0.90 - 1.17)
Education level		
Less than Secondary vs Post-Secondary	1.07 (0.97 - 1.17)	1.08 (0.96 - 1.21)
Secondary vs Post- Secondary	0.99 (0.90 - 1.09)	1.01 (0.92 - 1.12)
Perceived health status		
Excellent vs Very Good	1.08 (0.97 - 1.19)	1.07 (0.97 - 1.19)
Good vs Very Good	0.96 (0.87 - 1.05)	0.96 (0.88 - 1.06)
Fair vs Very Good	0.91 (0.79 - 1.04)	0.93 (0.80 - 1.08)
Poor vs Very Good	1.28 (1.01 - 1.63)	1.32 (1.03 - 1.69)

Characteristics	Undajused Odds Estimates	Adjusted Odds Estimates
N = 222,949	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Age group (Years)		
18 to 34 vs 35 to 54	1.04 (0.97 - 1.12)	1.03 (0.96 - 1.11)
55 to 74 vs 35 to 54	1.06 (1.01 - 1.13)	1.05 (0.99 - 1.12)
75+ vs 35 to 54	1.08 (0.98 - 1.18)	1.06 (0.97 - 1.17)
Racialization		
Non-White vs White	0.99 (0.92 - 1.07)	1.01 (0.88 - 1.16)
Sexual orientation		
Gay/Bisexual vs Heterosexual	1.01 (0.87 - 1.16)	1.01 (0.88 - 1.16)
Region of residence		
Atlantic Canada (NB, Newfoundland, PEI, NS) vs Ontario	1.01 (0.93 - 1.10)	1.00 (0.92 - 1.09)
Quebec vs Ontario	1.01 (0.95 - 1.08)	1.01 (0.94 - 1.08)
The Prairies (Manitoba, Alberta, Saskatchewan) vs Ontario	1.04 (0.97 - 1.11)	1.03 (0.96 - 1.11)
The Territories vs Ontario	1.11 (1.02 - 1.20)	1.11 (1.02 - 1.20)
British Columbia vs Ontario	1.10 (0.92 - 1.31)	1.07 (0.89 - 1.28)
Marital status		
Widowed/Separated/divorced/Single vs Married/common-law	1.01 (0.96 - 1.06)	1.03 (0.97 - 1.10)
Knowledge of official language		
Neither English nor French vs English/French	0.69 (0.48 - 0.99)	0.65 (0.45 - 0.94)
Insurance-prescription medications-all/part		
No vs Yes	1.02 (0.94 - 1.11)	1.01 (0.93 - 1.10)
Personal Income		
\$40k to \$79k vs Less than \$39k	0.97 (0.92 - 1.03)	0.99 (0.93 - 1.05)
\$80k+ vs Less than \$39k	0.96 (0.89 - 1.04)	0.99 (0.91 - 1.08)
Education level		
Less than Secondary vs Post-Secondary	1.11 (1.04 - 1.18)	1.09 (1.01 - 1.18)
Secondary vs Post- Secondary	1.06 (1.00 - 1.13)	1.05 (0.99 - 1.12)
Perceived health status		
Excellent vs Very Good	1.03 (0.97 - 1.10)	0.97 (0.91 - 1.03)
Good vs Very Good	1.03 (0.97 - 1.03)	1.03 (0.97 - 1.09)
Fair vs Very Good	0.98 (0.89 - 1.07)	0.96 (0.88 - 1.05)
Poor vs Very Good	0.99 (0.88 - 1.13)	0.98 (0.86 - 1.11)

Table B.2.Unadjusted (univariable) and adjusted (multivariable) odds ratios and
95% CI for "has a usual place for immediate care for minor problem"

	Undaiused Odds	Adjusted Odds
Characteristics	Estimates	Estimates
N = 222,949	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Age group (Years)		
18 to 34 vs 35 to 54	1.00 (0.96 - 1.05)	1.00 (0.95 - 1.05)
55 to 74 vs 35 to 54	1.01 (0.97 - 1.05)	1.01 (0.96 - 1.05)
75+ vs 35 to 54	1.03 (0.97 - 1.09)	1.02 (0.96 - 1.09)
Racialization		
Non-White vs White	0.95 (0.86 - 1.06)	0.97 (0.92 - 1.02)
Sexual orientation		
Gay/Bisexual vs Heterosexual	0.95 (0.86 – 1.06)	0.95 (0.85 - 1.06)
Region of residence		
Atlantic Canada (NB, Newfoundland, PEI, NS) vs Ontario	1.01 (0.94 - 1.06)	1.00 (0.94 - 1.06)
Quebec vs Ontario	0.97 (0.93 - 1.02)	0.97 (0.93 - 1.02)
The Prairies (Manitoba, Alberta, Saskatchewan) vs Ontario	1.03 (0.98 - 1.08)	1.02 (0.97 - 1.07)
The Territories vs Ontario	1.05 (0.99 - 1.11)	1.05 (1.00 - 1.11)
British Columbia vs Ontario	1.03 (0.92 -1.16)	1.02 (0.90 - 1.15)
Marital status		
Widowed/Separated/divorced/Single vs Married/common-law	1.02 (0.98 - 1.05)	1.01 (0.97 - 1.05)
Knowledge of official language		
Neither English nor French vs English/French	0.96 (0.76 - 1.22)	0.97 (0.76 - 1.22)
Insurance-prescription medications-all/part		
No vs Yes	0.93 (0.87 - 0.98)	0.92 (0.86 - 0.98)
Personal income		
\$40k to \$79k vs Less than \$39k	0.98 (0.94 - 1.02)	0.98 (0.94 - 1.02)
\$80k+ vs Less than \$39k	0.99 (0.94 - 1.04)	0.98 (0.93 - 1.04)
Education level		
Less than Secondary vs Post-Secondary	1.02 (0.97 - 1.06)	0.98 (0.93 - 1.03)
Secondary vs Post- Secondary	1.05 (1.01 - 1.10)	1.05 (1.00 - 1.09)
Perceived health status		
Excellent vs Very Good	0.99 (0.95 - 1.04)	0.99 (0.95 - 1.04)
Good vs Very Good	1.01 (0.97 - 1.05)	1.01 (0.97 - 1.05)
Fair vs Very Good	1.03 (0.97 - 1.09)	1.02 (0.96 - 1.09)
Poor vs Very Good	1.00 (0.90 - 1.08)	0.98 (0.89 - 1.07)

Table B.3.Unadjusted (univariable) and adjusted (multivariable) odds ratios and
95% CI for "walk-in clinic/ER for usual place for immediate care for
minor problem"

Characteristics	Undajused Odds Estimates	Adjusted Odds Estimates
N = 222,949	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Age group (Years)		
18 to 34 vs 35 to 54	1.01 (0.96 - 1.06)	1.01 (0.96 - 1.06)
55 to 74 vs 35 to 54	0.99 (0.94 - 1.03)	0.99 (0.95 - 1.04)
75+ vs 35 to 54	1.03 (0.97 - 1.09)	1.02 (0.96 - 1.06)
Racialization		
Non-White vs White	1.04 (0.98 - 1.09)	1.04 (0.98 - 1.10)
Sexual orientation		
Gay/Bisexual vs Heterosexual	1.06 (0.96 - 1.18)	1.07 (0.96 - 1.19)
Region of residence		
Atlantic Canada (NB, Newfoundland, PEI, NS) vs	1.06 (1.00 - 1.12)	1.06 (1.00 - 1.12)
Ontario		
Quebec vs Ontario	1.00 (0.96 - 1.05)	1.00 (0.96 - 1.05)
The Prairies (Manitoba, Alberta, Saskatchewan) vs	1.05 (1.00 - 1.11)	1.05 (1.00 -1.10)
Ontario		
The Territories vs Ontario	1.09 (1.03 - 1.16)	1.09 (1.03 - 1.16)
British Columbia vs Ontario	0.96 (0.85 - 1.08)	0.95 (0.84 - 1.07)
Marital status		
Widowed/Separated/divorced/Single vs	1.00 (0.96 - 1.03)	1.00 (0.97 - 1.04)
Married/common-law		
Knowledge of official language		
Neither English nor French vs English/French	0.96 (0.76 -1.23)	0.91 (0.71 - 1.17)
Insurance-prescription medications-all/part		
No vs Yes	1.02 (0.96 - 1.08)	1.00 (0.94 - 1.09)
Personal income		
\$40k to \$79k vs Less than \$39k	0.95 (0.91 - 0.99)	0.96 (0.91 - 1.00)
\$80k+ vs Less than \$39k	1.03 (0.97 - 1.08)	1.04 (0.98 - 1.10)
Education level		
Less than Secondary vs Post-Secondary	1.00 (0.95 - 1.04)	1.03 (0.98 - 1.09)
Secondary vs Post- Secondary	1.00 (0.96 - 1.05)	1.00 (0.96 - 1.05)
Perceived health status		
Excellent vs Very Good	1.04 (0.99 - 1.09)	1.04 (0.99 - 1.09)
Good vs Very Good	1.05 (1.01 - 1.10)	1.05 (1.00 - 1.09)
Fair vs Very Good	1.03 (0.96 - 1.09)	1.01 (0.95 - 1.08)
Poor vs Very Good	0.98 (0.98 - 1.08)	0.96 (0.87 - 1.06)

Table B.4.Unadjusted (univariable) and adjusted (multivariable) odds ratios and
95% CI for "Same/Next Day Appointment for Minor Problem"

Characteristics	Undajused Odds Estimates	Adjusted Odds Estimates
N = 222,949	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Age group (Years)		
18 to 34 vs 35 to 54	0.99 (0.93 - 1.06)	1.00 (0.93 - 1.08)
55 to 74 vs 35 to 54	0.97 (0.91 - 1.03)	0.97 (0.91 - 1.03)
75+ vs 35 to 54	0.95 (0.87 - 1.04)	0.96 (0.87 - 1.05)
Racialization		
Non-White vs White	0.98 (0.91 - 1.06)	0.95 (0.88 - 1.03)
Sexual Orientation		
Gay/Bisexual vs Heterosexual	0.93 (0.80 - 1.08)	0.92 (0.80 - 1.07)
Region of residence		
Atlantic Canada (NB, Newfoundland, PEI, NS) vs	0.99 (0.91 - 1.08)	0.99 (0.91 - 1.08)
Ontario		
Quebec vs Ontario	0.92 (0.86 - 0.99)	0.93 (0.86 - 0.99)
The Prairies (Manitoba, Alberta, Saskatchewan) vs	0.97 (0.91 - 1.04)	0.97 (0.91 - 1.04)
Ontario		
The Territories vs Ontario	0.96 (0.89 - 1.04)	0.96 (0.87 - 1.94)
British Columbia vs Ontario	1.04 (0.86 - 1.19)	1.04 (0.87 - 1.23)
Marital status		
Widowed/Separated/divorced/Single vs	1.00 (0.95 - 1.04)	0.98 (0.93 - 1.04)
Married/common-law		
Knowledge of official language		
Neither English nor French vs English/French	1.14 (0.83 - 1.56)	1.18 (0.85 - 1.62)
Insurance-prescription medications-all/part		
No vs Yes	1.01 (0.95 - 1.08)	1.02 (0.95 - 1.09)
Personal income		
\$40k to \$79k vs Less than \$39k	1.02 (0.96 - 1.08)	1.01 (0.95 - 1.07)
\$80k+ vs Less than \$39k	1.00 (0.93 - 1.08)	0.98 (0.90 - 1.06)
Education Level		
Less than Secondary vs Post-Secondary	0.97 (0.91 - 1.03)	0.92 (0.86 - 1.00)
Secondary vs Post- Secondary	0.98 (0.92 - 1.04)	0.98 (0.92 - 1.04)
Perceived health status		
Excellent vs Very Good	0.98 (0.92 - 1.05)	0.98 (0.92 - 1.04)
Good vs Very Good	1.00 (0.94 - 1.06)	1.01 (0.95 - 1.07)
Fair vs Very Good	0.99 (0.90 - 1.08)	1.01 (0.92 - 1.11)
Poor vs Very Good	1.02 (0.90 - 1.16)	1.05 (0.92 - 1.19)

Table B.5.Unadjusted (univariable) and adjusted (multivariable) odds ratios and
95% CI for "Consulted with a Family Doctor or General Practictioner"